
April 21, 2020 Board Meeting

Agenda April 21, 2020 Meeting 1
Minutes of March 17, 2020 Meeting 2
Memo to Board- PY2021 Proposed Changes Chapter 24 5
HEAP Rule PY2021 draft redline version 8
Year End Financial Report 2019 55
Asset Management 133
Communications and Planning 134
Development 136
Energy and Housing Services 138
Finance Monthly Report 140
Financial & Budget Report 142
Finance Delinquency Report & Charts 150
Homeless Initiatives 162
Homeownership 164
Housing Choice Voucher 167
Information Technologies 169
2020 Calendar 170



 
  

Board of Commissioners Meeting – April 21, 2020      9:00 A.M. – 12:00 P.M. 
 
      
ITEM     AGENDA    PRESENTER        
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

  
  9:00   Adopt Agenda (VOTE)       Lincoln Merrill 
 
 Approve minutes of March 17, 2020 meeting (VOTE)  All 
 
 Communications and Conflicts     All 
 
 Chair of the Board Updates      Lincoln Merrill 
 
 Director Updates       Dan Brennan 
 
 9:30 Swearing in of New Commissioner Laura Buxbaum   Peter Merrill 
 
 9:35 Commence Rulemaking – Home Energy Assistance  Troy Fullmer 

 Program (VOTE)  
 
10:05 Commence Rulemaking – Qualified Allocation Plan (VOTE) Mark Wiesendanger 
 
10:30 2019 Audit Report       Darren Brown / Tom Cary 

Jason Emery (Baker, Newman 
& Noyes) 

 
 
 
  

Department Reports:       All 
Asset Management 
Communications and Planning 
Development 
Energy and Housing Services 
Finance Monthly Report 
Financial & Budget Report 
Finance Delinquency Report & Charts 
Homeless Initiatives 
Homeownership 
Housing Choice Voucher 
Information Technology 
  
Adjourn (VOTE)       All 
 
Building Committee Meeting to Follow 
 

The next meeting of the Board is scheduled for May ____, 2020 
at MaineHousing, 353 Water Street, Augusta, Maine 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD: Lincoln Merrill, Jr. (Chair), Donna Talarico 
(Secretary), Thomas Davis, Daniel Brennan, Laurence Gross, Henry Beck, 
Bonita Usher (Vice Chair), Kevin P. Joseph 

1



Page 1 of 3 
 

 

 
 
Minutes of the Board of Commissioners Meeting March 17, 2020 
 
MEETING CONVENED 
A regular meeting of the Board of Commissioners for MaineHousing convened on March 17, 2020 at 
the offices of MaineHousing, 353 Water Street, Augusta, Maine.  Notice of the meeting was 
published on March 6, 2020 in Central Maine newspapers. 
 
Chair Lincoln Merrill called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. The meeting convened with Director 
Dan Brennan present.  Commissioners Bonita Usher and Kevin Joseph were absent.  Commissioner 
Tom Davis attended by telephone because he was travelling out of state.  There were no other 
persons at his location.  Commissioners Donna Talarico, Larry Gross and State Treasurer Henry 
Beck all attended by telephone because of COVID-19.  There were no other persons at their 
locations.  There was a quorum present. 
 
PUBLIC ATTENDANCE  
Guests and staff present for all or part of the meeting included:  Linda Uhl, Chief Counsel; Peter 
Merrill, Deputy Director; Tom Cary, Treasurer; Daniel Drost, Director of Energy and Housing 
Services; Lori McPherson, HEAP Program Officer-Vendor Relations, Troy Fullmer, Manager of 
HEAP & Weatherization Services; Mark Wiesendanger, Director of Development; Karen Lawlor, 
Executive Administrator; Denise Lord, Senior Director of Communications and Planning; Don 
McGilvery, Construction Services Manager; Linda Grotton, Director of Audit and Compliance; 
Brenda Sylvester, Community Housing of Maine, Inc.; and Gerrylynn Ricker, Paralegal and Note 
taker.  Patrick Clancy and Laura Buxbaum attended the meeting by telephone. 
 
ADOPT AGENDA 
Commissioner Gross made a motion seconded by Commissioner Davis to adopt the March 17, 2020 agenda.  The vote 
carried unanimously. 
 
APPROVE MINUTES OF FEBRUARY 18, 2020 MEETING 
Commissioner Davis made a motion seconded by State Treasurer Henry Beck to accept the February 18, 2020 
minutes as written.  4 members voted in favor of the motion and 1 member abstained. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS AND CONFLICTS 
Chair Merrill reported that he received an e-mail communication from former Representative 
Heather Sorocki of Scarborough regarding housing, Section 8, and various things as it related to the 
Town of Scarborough.  Chair Merrill also reported he met with Brian Sites of Volunteers of America 
(VOA) regarding the VOA project in Belfast.  Commissioner Gross spoke with an accountant who 
inquired whether MaineHousing would issue any guidance regarding deadlines, such as audit 
deadlines.  Director Brennan assured Commissioner Gross that MaineHousing is meeting daily 
regarding the pandemic and will definitely provide that guidance to our partners.   
 
CHAIR OF THE BOARD UPDATES 
None 
 

2



Page 2 of 3 
 

DIRECTOR UPDATES 
Director Brennan reported issues, his activities and upcoming matters as follows:  

 Two new Commissioners pending.  Pat Clancy and Laura Buxbaum.  Congratulations to both 
of them.  Unanimous confirmation from the Oversight Committee.  The Senate will vote on 
their nominations.  Thank you to Tom Davis for your service.   

 Repairs have begun on the elevator.   
 Deputy Director Peter Merrill and Director Brennan met with the new Portland Mayor, Kate 

Snyder, and City Manager, Jon Jennings, regarding housing issues in Portland. 
 Visit with Megan Gean-Gendron, Director of York County Shelter Programs, accompanied 

by Don Gean, a former MaineHousing commissioner.   
 Meeting with city officials of Bangor and DHHS regarding Housing First options 
 Held a meeting here with various Community Land Trusts. 
 New York City meetings with Treasurer Tom Cary and Chief Counsel Linda Uhl.  Met with 

our bond underwriter partners, the rating agencies, and our analyst, CfX.   
 Attended the Maine Affordable Housing Coalition meeting.  Celebrated the State Low 

Income Housing Tax Credit with Representative Fecteau.  Heather Johnson from Economic 
and Community Development attended.  Following that there was a meeting with Genesis at 
Drummond Woodsum to discuss implementing the State Low Income Housing Tax Credit. 

 Deputy Director Peter Merrill and Director Brennan went to Washington, D.C. and met with 
our 4 Congressional offices.  We were asked to perhaps speak at a public hearing on 
affordable housing with Senator Susan Collins.  Great opportunity for Maine. 

 Will be meeting with Lewiston Housing Authority to discuss the next phase of the tree street 
neighborhood project. 

 Will be meeting with Mary Herman from the Department of Education.   
 Working on a business continuity plan around COVID-19.  Senior Director of 

Communications and Planning Denise Lord and Counsel John Bobrowiecki are attending 
daily briefings with the CDC.  We are currently following all CDC guidance. 

 
HOME ENERGY ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (HEAP) DISCUSSION 
Manager of HEAP & Weatherization Services Troy Fullmer recognized Energy and Housing 
Director Daniel Drost and HEAP Program Officer – Vendor Relations Lori McPherson.  Ms. 
McPherson has been with MaineHousing for over 25 years.  Troy reviewed for the Commissioners 
the stakeholder input and planning for the program year 2021.   At next month’s Board meeting, he 
will ask permission to commence rulemaking. 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE UPDATE 
Director of Audit and Compliance Linda Grotton presented an overview of the Audit Committee 
and the Internal Audit functions at MaineHousing.  She included copies of the Audit Committee 
Charter and the Internal Audit Charter for review.  Commissioner Gross commented that Linda does 
a very thorough job. 
 
QUALIFIED ALLOCATION PLAN (QAP) DRAFT 
Director of Development Mark Wiesendanger reviewed with the Commissioners the stakeholder 
meetings that have been held and presented a redline version of the proposed Rule.  Mark explained 
the proposed changes.  Mark will come to the Board next month and ask permission to commence 
rulemaking. 
 
EDISON DRIVE PRESENTATION 
Construction Services Manager Don McGilvery gave an update on the progress at our new building 

3



Page 3 of 3 
 

on Edison Drive.  Some key points are: 
 

 Exterior is basically complete; 
 Front vestibule glass has been installed; 
 Permanent heat will be on in about two weeks; 
 First floor carpet is 95% complete; 
 Ceiling grids are in; 
 Stair steel frame is installed; 
 Second floor DIRT offices are installed; and 
 Five tractor trailers delivered furniture;  

 
Our contractor, Landry French expects to continue to work through the COVID-19 crisis but will 
keep Don informed of any delays. 
 
DEPARTMENT REPORTS 
Commissioner Gross complimented Homeownership Director Craig Reynolds’ report and wondered 
if we could have a similar key performance indicator for all the programs.   
 
ADJOURN 
Commissioner Davis made a motion seconded by State Treasurer Beck to adjourn the meeting.  The meeting was 
adjourned at 10:54 a.m. by unanimous vote of the Board. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

 
Donna Talarico, Secretary 

4



 
 
 Energy & Housing Services Department Memorandum 
 

 
To: MaineHousing Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Troy Fullmer, Manager of HEAP   
 
Date: April 15, 2020 
 
Subject: Proposed Changes to Home Energy Assistance Program Rule (Chapter 24) for PY2021 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The following highlights the major changes being proposed for the PY2021 Home Energy 
Assistance Program (HEAP). The proposed changes are a result of the collaborative efforts of 
MaineHousing, Maine Community Action Agencies, and the HEAP Working Group.   
 
Section 1: Definitions 

Item X. “Dwelling unit” has been amended to more fully reflect that eligible households live 
in a variety of dwelling types that include dwellings that may not be hooked up to standard 
utilities. 
 
Item VV.  “Live-in Care Attendant” has been amended and to bring parity with HUD’s 
definition of live-in care attendant and supports accommodating certain household’s living 
arrangements and needs. 
 
Item III. “Priority Applicant” has been amended from including household members who 
are susceptible to hypothermia as diagnosed by and documented by a statement from a 
physician to a more general definition that includes a household member with a disability.  
This amendment supports U.S. DHHS’s guidance on targeting HEAP benefits to vulnerable 
households. 

 
Section 2: Application 

Section C.11. MaineHousing is proposing to strike language requiring that government-
issued photo identification shall be “valid”. Making this change will allow Community 
Action Agencies to consider accepting an expired government-issued photo identification 
card when a Primary Applicant cannot provide an unexpired government-issued photo 
identification card.  

 
Section 3: Eligibility 

 
Section D.7. MaineHousing is proposing to modify Dwelling Unit Eligibility in order to 
provide the opportunity for eligible households who reside a variety of dwelling types to be 
considered for HEAP benefits. 
 
Section H.1. MaineHousing is proposing to recoup 50% of a household’s current and 
future program year’s benefits towards outstanding Overpayments instead of 100% of a 

5



 

household’s benefit. This change will help incentivize households with Overpayments to 
continue applying for HEAP; help reduce the amount of outstanding Overpayments; and 
support households by providing them some benefits. 
 

 Section 4: Benefit Determination 
 Sections C.1., C.2.a., C.2.b MaineHousing is proposing to add language that clarifies that 

households with no calculated energy costs are only eligible to receive a benefit in an amount 
to maximize benefits under the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program. 
 

Section 8: Energy Crisis Intervention Program (ECIP) 
Sections B.2., B.4., C.1. MaineHousing is proposing language to allow ECIP funds to be 
used to pay for delivery fees and heating system start up fees when delivering fuel from a 
regular HEAP benefit in order to address energy crisis situations. 

 
Section 9: Central Heating Improvement Program (CHIP) 

Section L. MaineHousing is proposing that Subgrantees only have to perform final 
inspections on CHIP services for heating system replacement jobs instead of requiring final 
inspections on CHIP services in excess of $1,000. 
 

Section 12: Subgrantees 
Section D. MaineHousing is proposing to allow Subgrantees to charge support costs 
associated with taking and processing HEAP applications to Program dollars verses 
Administrative dollars.  

 
Section 14: Vendors 

Section I. MaineHousing is proposing that HEAP benefits cannot be retroactively applied 
to home energy deliveries previously made and paid for by the Household or other private 
individual prior to a Household being awarded a HEAP benefit. 
 

Section 15: Errors and Program Abuse 
 Sections F.2, F.3. MaineHousing is proposing that the minimum monthly payment amount 

for households entering into a repayment agreement for Overpayments be set at $5.00 per 
month; and to recoup 50% of a household’s current and future program year’s benefits 
towards outstanding Overpayments instead of 100% of a household’s benefit. 

 
Section 16: Appeal 
 Section F. MaineHousing is proposing language that clarifies that HEAP Applicants will be 

provided an opportunity for a fair administrative hearing if the Applicant disputes the 
amount of their HEAP benefit. 

 
We are submitting a copy of the proposed rule to the Office of the Attorney General for a legal 
preview.  The public hearing will be held at the May Board meeting.  Notice of the hearing will be 
published on our website and in newspapers statewide.  The public comment period will be open for 
a period of 10 days following the public hearing.  If there are no significant changes to the proposed 
rule after the hearing and comment period, we will ask the Board to adopt the proposed rule at the 
June Board meeting. 
 
 

6



 

 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: 
To authorize MaineHousing to commence the rulemaking process to repeal Chapter 24 of MaineHousing’s rules and 
replace it with the proposed Chapter 24 provided to the Commissioners in the Board packet and described in the 
memorandum from Manager of HEAP, Troy Fullmer to the Commissioners dated April 15, 2020. 
 

7



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 1 of 47 

+99 INDEPENDENT AGENCIES 
 

346 MAINE STATE HOUSING AUTHORITY 
 

CHAPTER 24 Home Energy Assistance Program Rule 
 
 

Summary: The Rule establishes standards for the Home Energy Assistance Program for the State of Maine as 
administered by the Maine State Housing Authority. The Home Energy Assistance Program provides Fuel 
Assistance and Energy Crisis Intervention Programs to low-income Eligible Households. The Rule also establishes 
standards for the HEAP Weatherization, Central Heating Improvement Programs, and Supplemental Benefits 
funded by TANF funds. 

 
1. Definitions. 
 

A. “Act” means the Maine Housing Authorities Act, 30-A M.R.S.A. § 4701 et seq., as it may 
be amended from time to time. 

 
B. “Annual Consumption Report” means the annual report Vendors must submit to MaineHousing 

to report their HEAP customers’ Home Energy deliveries from May 1st through April 30th. 
 
C. “Apartment” means a Dwelling Unit within a multi-unit building. 
 
D. “Applicant” means a person listed as a Household member on a Primary Applicant’s Application. 
 
E. “Applicant Household” means the Household members listed on the Application whose 

Countable Assets will be considered when determining eligibility for CHIP services. A Household 
member will be considered to be part of the Applicant Household if they have a familial 
relationship with or a joint financial account with an occupying owner of the Dwelling Unit. Full 
time high school students would not be considered Applicant Household members unless they 
are Primary Applicants. 

 
F. “Application” means forms and documents completed, signed, and provided by Primary 

Applicant to determine eligibility for a Benefit and ECIP. 
 
G. “Arrearage Management Program (AMP)” means the program to assist eligible low-income 

residential customers who are in arrears on their electricity bills as defined by 35-A MRSA 
§3214, sub-§2-A, as may be amended from time to time. 

 
H. “Benefit” means the dollar amount of Fuel Assistance an Eligible Household receives. 
 
I. “Benefit Return” means a Benefit, partial or whole, returned to MaineHousing. 
 
J. “Boarder” means a Roomer who is provided meals and is not related by birth, marriage 

or adoption to the household. 
 
K. “BTU” means British Thermal Unit. 
 
L. “Camper” means a trailer, semitrailer, truck camper, or motor home primarily designed and originally 

constructed to provide temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use regardless of 
modification(s) or length. 

 

8



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 2 of 47 

M. “CHIP” means the Central Heating Improvement Program component of  HEAP. 
 
N. “Contractor” means a provider of materials or services to Eligible Households. 

 
O. “Countable Asset” means a resource that is available to meet the immediate and urgent needs of 

a Household, and includes: cash and funds on prepaid debit cards, money in a checking or 
savings account (health savings accounts, educational funds, and burial accounts are excluded), 
stocks or bonds, U.S. Treasury bills, money market funds, and retirement accounts provided 
there are no penalties or fees for withdrawals. 

 
P. “Close-out” means the reconciliation of receipts and use of all Fuel Assistance and ECIP funds 

by Vendor. It is Vendor’s responsibility to keep this information by Eligible Household and 
provide it to MaineHousing upon request. 

 
Q. “Consumption Based” means the method for determining an Eligible Household’s Home 

Energy consumption using actual energy deliveries as reported by the Vendor. 
 
R. “Credit Notification Report” means the document sent to the Vendor guaranteeing payment 

post-delivery for Eligible Households.. The Credit Notification Report lists each Primary 
Applicant’s name, address, Home Energy type, account information, and, as applicable, 
Benefit or TANF Supplemental Benefit. 

 
S. “CTE” means to clean, tune, and evaluate a Heating System to ensure safe and efficient operation. 
 
T. “Date of Application” means the date an Application is received by the Subgrantee. 
 
U. “Date of Discovery” means the date MaineHousing receives information relating to suspected fraud. 
 
V. “DHLC” means the design heat load calculation method for estimating Home Energy consumption. 
 
W. “Direct Energy Cost” means an Energy Cost that is directly paid by the Household. 
 
X. “Dwelling Unit” means a building or structure or part thereof that is used as a primary residence 

by one or more persons who maintain a household.an occupied residential housing structure with 
one or more rooms that is used customarily as a domicile for one or more persons, when 
permanently connected to the required utilities (including plumbing, electricity and Heating 
Systems) and contains bathroom and kitchen facilities specific to that unit. A Dwelling Unit has its 
own private entrance from the outside or off an enclosed hallway leading from the outside that 
does not pass through or offer an open access to any other unit within the structure. A Dwelling 
Unit does not include a Camper, boat, railroad car, bus, yurt or other structure designed and 
constructed to provide temporary living quarters. 

 
Y. “ECIP” means the Energy Crisis Intervention Program component of  HEAP. 
 
Z. “Elderly Person” means a person who is 60 years old or older, or a member of an Indian Tribe 

who is 55 years old or older. 
 
AA. “Eligible Household” means a Household that satisfies all eligibility and income requirements of 

the HEAP Act and requirements of this Rule. 
 
BB. “Energy Cost” means cost of energy used for heating a Dwelling Unit, Apartment, or Rental Unit. 
 
CC. “Energy Crisis” shall have the same meaning as set forth in 42 U.S.C.A. §8622(3), as same may 

9



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 3 of 47 

be amended from time to time. The term "energy crisis" means weather-related and supply 
shortage emergencies and other household energy-related emergencies. 

 
DD. “Errors and Program Abuse” means the act of obtaining assistance to which one is not entitled 

by means of submitting false statements or withholding information pertinent to the 
determination of eligibility or benefits. Also applies to Vendors who retain Benefits that should 
be returned or use Benefits for something other than intended purpose. 

 
EE. “Fuel Assistance” means the component of HEAP that assists Eligible Households 

with their Home Energy costs. 
 
FF. “HEAP” means the Home Energy Assistance Program established pursuant to the 

HEAP Act and the Act. 
 
GG. “HEAP Act” means 42 U.S.C.A. §8621 et seq., and the regulations promulgated there under, 

including 45 C.F.R. § 96.1 through 96.68 and 45 C.F.R. § 96.80 et seq., all as may be amended 
from time to time. 

 
HH. “HEAP Handbook” means the handbook in effect for a Program Year that is used as a 

resource and guide for the administration of HEAP. 
 
II. “HEAP Weatherization” means the weatherization component of HEAP that provides 

Low- cost/no-cost Weatherization Activities and other cost-effective energy-related home 
repairs or installations. 

 
JJ. “Heating Season” means the period of time beginning October 1 and ending April 30. 
 
KK. “Heating Source” means any device used to provide heat to a Dwelling Unit. 

LL. “Heating System” means a permanently installed system that is used to heat the Dwelling Unit. 
A portable space heater is not considered to be a Heating System. 

 
MM. “Heat Pump” means a ductless secondary heating system that provides heat by extracting heat from 

outside air and delivering it indoors as needed. 
 
NN. “Home Energy” means a source of heating or cooling in residential dwellings as set forth in 
  42 U.S.C.A. §8622(6), as same may be amended from time to time. 
 
OO. “Household” means any individual or group of individuals who are living together as one 

economic unit for whom residential energy is customarily purchased in common or who make 
undesignated payments for energy in the form of rent as set forth in 42 U.S.C.A. §8622(5), as 
same may be amended from time to time. 

 
PP. “Household Income” means the total income from all sources before taxes and deductions as 

further defined in this Rule. 
 
QQ. “Incidental Costs” means costs of services billed to a Household by a Vendor related to the use 

or delivery of Home Energy including, but not limited to: surcharges, penalty charges, 
reconnection charges, clean and repair service charges, security deposits, delivery charges, and 
insurance. 

 
RR. “Incidental Repairs” means those repairs necessary for the effective performance or preservation 

of weatherization materials. 

10



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 4 of 47 

 
SS. “Indian Tribe” means the Penobscot Indian Nation, the Passamaquoddy Indian Tribe, and 

the Houlton Band of Maliseet Indians as defined in the Maine Indian Claims Settlement Act, 
30 M.R.S.A. §6201 et seq., and the Aroostook Band of Micmacs as defined in the Micmac 
Settlement Act, 30 M.R.S.A. §7201 et seq. 

 
TT. “Indirect Determinable Energy Cost” means a cost for Home Energy used by the Household that 

is not directly paid for by the Household. For example, heat included as part of the rent for a 
Rental Unit. 

 
UU. “Invitation to Bid” or “Request for Proposals” means the process to solicit bids or proposals 

to satisfy the requirements of this Rule. 
 
VV. “Live-in Care Attendant” means a person, not considered part of the household, who; (i) 

provides needed health/supportive services to a member of the households as documented by a 
qualified professional; (ii) would not be living in the unit except to provide the necessary 
supportive services; and (iii) does not contribute financially to the household.a person, not 
considered part of the Household, who; (i) is not related by birth, marriage, or adoption to any 
member of the Household; (ii) does not contribute financially to the Household; and (iii) 
provides needed health/supportive services to a member of the Household as documented by a 
qualified professional. Live-in care attendants who do not meet all of these criteria are 
considered part of the Household. 

 
WW. “Life Threatening Crisis” means the household is currently without heat or utility service to 

operate a Heating Source or a Heating System. 
 
XX. “Low-cost/no-cost Weatherization Activities” means those activities authorized pursuant to 
  10 C.F.R. §440.20, as may be amended from time to time. 
 
YY. “MaineHousing” means the Maine State Housing Authority. 
 
ZZ.   “Manufactured/Mobile Home” means a residence that is constructed at a manufacturing facility on 

a permanent chassis (i.e. the wheel assembly necessary to transport the residence is removable, but 
the steel undercarriage remains intact as a necessary structural component) and is transportable in 
one or more sections, which in traveling mode is 12 body feet or more in width and as erected on 
site is 600 or more square feet. 

 
AAA. “Modular” means a residence that is constructed at a manufacturing facility, but not constructed on 

a permanent chassis, and is transportable in one or more sections on an independent chassis such 
as a truck or train. 

 
BBB.      “Non-occupying Co-owner” means a person who shares a legal ownership interest in the Dwelling 

Unit occupied by the Applicant Household. The Non-occupying Co-owner does not reside in the 
Dwelling Unit being considered for CHIP services. 

 
CCC. “Notice of Termination of Subgrantee” means a written statement notifying the Subgrantee of 

the cause and effective date of its termination. 
 
DDD. “Open Enrollment” means period of time a vendor can request and/or file an application 

to participate as a contracted Vendor. 
 
EEE.    “Overpayment” means any HEAP benefits paid to, or on behalf of, any Applicant or Household 

that exceeds the amount the Applicant or Household was eligible to receive. 

11



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 5 of 47 

 
FFF. “Person with a Disability” means a person who (1) has a physical or mental impairment that 

substantially limits one or more of a person’s major life activities; (2) has a physical or mental 
impairment that significantly impairs physical or mental health, which means having an actual or 
expected duration of more than 6 months and impairing health to a significant extent as compared 
to what is ordinarily experienced in the general population; (3) has a physical or mental impairment 
that requires special education, vocational rehabilitation or related services; (4) has without regard 
to severity unless otherwise indicated, absent, artificial or replacement limbs, hands, feet or vital 
organs; alcoholism; amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; autism, bipolar disorder; blindness or abnormal 
vision loss; cancer; cerebral palsy; chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; Crohn’s disease; cystic 
fibrosis; deafness or abnormal hearing loss; diabetes; substantial disfigurement; drug addiction; 
emotional illness; epilepsy; heart disease; HIV or AIDS; kidney or renal diseases; lupus; major 
depressive disorder; mastectomy; mental retardation; multiple sclerosis; muscular dystrophy; 
paralysis; Parkinson’s disease; pervasive development disorders; rheumatoid arthritis; 
schizophrenia; speech impairment, and acquired brain injury; (5) has a record of any of the 
physical or mental impairments described in the foregoing clauses (1) through (4); or (6) is 
regarded as having or is likely to develop any of the physical or mental impairments described in 
the foregoing clauses (1) through (4). The existence of a physical or mental disability is determined 
without regard to the ameliorative effects of mitigating measures such as medication, auxiliary aids 
or prosthetic devices. 

 
 A physical or mental disability or impairment does not include pedophilia, exhibitionism, 

voyeurism, sexual behavior disorders, compulsive gambling, kleptomania, pyromania, tobacco 
smoking, or any condition covered under 5 M.R.S.A. §4553, sub-§9-C. It does not include 
psychoactive substance use disorders resulting from current illegal use of drugs, although this may 
not be construed to exclude a person who has successfully completed a supervised drug 
rehabilitation program and is no longer engaging in the illegal use of drugs or has otherwise been 
rehabilitated successfully and is no longer engaging in such use; is participating in a supervised 
rehabilitation program and is no longer engaging in such use; is erroneously regarded as engaging in 
such use, but is not engaging in such use; or in the context of a reasonable accommodation in 
employment is seeking treatment or has successfully completed treatment. 

 
GGG. “Price Protection Plan” means an agreement between Vendor and a customer to purchase 

Home Energy at an agreed upon price. 
 
HHH.  “Primary Applicant” means a person who signs the completed Application. 
 
III.  “Priority Applicant” means a Household with a direct energy cost as well as a member in a 

household who is (i) an elderly person, or (ii) has a disability, or (iii) 72 months (6 years) or 
younger.Household with a Direct Energy Cost as well as a member in the Household who is 
(i) an Elderly Person, or (ii) susceptible to hypothermia as diagnosed by and documented by 
a statement from a physician, or (iii) 72 months (6 years) or younger. 

 
JJJ. “Programs” means Fuel Assistance, ECIP, CHIP, and HEAP Weatherization. 
 
KKK.   “Program Year” means the period of time beginning October 1 and ending September 30. 

LLL.      “Rental Unit” means a Dwelling Unit that is rented. 

MMM. “Reporting Vendor” means a Vendor who is contractually obligated to report the Home 
Energy deliveries the Vendor has made on behalf of an Eligible Household. 

 
NNN.  “Retail Cash Price” means the posted price a Vendor charges for Home Energy per gallon. 

12



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 6 of 47 

 
OOO.  “Roomer” means a person who qualifies as a separate Household and pursuant to a rental 

agreement rents no more than two rooms in a Dwelling Unit occupied as separate living quarters 
and who may, depending upon the rental agreement, be granted privileges to use, but not reside in, 
other rooms located in the same Dwelling Unit. A Roomer cannot be related by birth, marriage or 
adoption to any member of the lessor’s Household. 

 
PPP.  “Service Area” means the geographic area, as defined by MaineHousing, within which the 

Subgrantee operates and administers the Programs. 
 
QQQ.  “Social Security Benefits” means social security income benefits pursuant to Title II of the 

United States Social Security Act of 1935 and supplemental security income benefits pursuant 
Title XVI of the United States Social Security Act of 1935, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §1381 et seq., 
and State supplemental income benefits provided pursuant to 22 M.R.S.A. §3201 et seq., all as 
may be amended from time to time. 

 
RRR.  “State” means the State of Maine. 
 
SSS. “Subgrantee” means a public or private nonprofit agency, or municipality, selected by 

MaineHousing to administer the Programs. 
 
TTT. “Subsidized Housing” means Households whose rent is based on their income or the subsidy 

pays for any portion of their mortgage. Housing in which a tax credit or federal/state loan is 
applied to reduce debt burden on the property is not considered Subsidized Housing. A 
resident of a residential housing facility including without limitation group homes, homeless 
shelters, and residential care facilities or a Tenant who pays below market rent or no rent due to 
the landlord receiving a federal or state subsidy for rent is living in Subsidized Housing. 

 
UUU. “Supplemental Benefits” means the benefits that are funded with supplemental HEAP 

funds (beyond the original grant award). 
 
VVV. “Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP)” means the nutrition assistance program 

administered by the United States Department of Agriculture. The goals of SNAP are to 
improve participants' food security and their access to a healthy diet. 

 
WWW. “TANF” means payments under the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families program as 

defined in 22 M.R.S.A., Chapter 1053-B, § 3762 et seq, as same be amended from time to 
time. 

 
XXX.  “TANF Supplemental Benefits” means the benefits that are funded with TANF 

funds pursuant to 22 M.R.S.A., Chapter 1053-B, § 3769-E. 
 
YYY.  “Tenant” means an Applicant who resides in a Rental Unit or Apartment. 
 
ZZZ.  “Vendor” means an energy supplier that has entered into a Vendor Agreement 

with MaineHousing to provide Home Energy to Eligible Households. 
 
AAAA. “Vendor Agreement” means a signed agreement between MaineHousing and a Vendor 

that contains terms and conditions by which the Vendor will provide Home Energy to 
Eligible Households. 

 
BBBB.  “Vendor Voucher Report” means the document sent to the Vendor that lists Eligible 

Households’ Benefits, including each Primary Applicant’s name, address, phone number, Benefit 

13



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 7 of 47 

amount, Home Energy type, account information, and Subgrantee. 
 
CCCC.  “Watch List” means the MaineHousing list of Vendors that will not receive payment in advance 

for Eligible Households’ Benefits. In the event MaineHousing determines, in its sole judgment, 
based on Vendor’s actions or omissions or other information obtained by MaineHousing directly 
or from any third party, that such actions, omissions or other information raise issues concerning 
Vendor’s continued ability to make Home Energy deliveries or otherwise comply with the terms 
of the Vendor Agreement, or that Vendor’s performance is out of compliance with the 
requirements of the Vendor Agreement, MaineHousing may, in its sole discretion, place Vendor 
on this list. 

 
DDDD. “Weatherization Assistance Program (WAP)” means the program enabled and funded by the 

federal Energy Conservation in Existing Buildings Act of 1976, as same may be amended from 
time to time. Its purpose is to increase the energy efficiency of dwellings owned or occupied 
by low-income persons, reduce their total residential energy expenditures, and improve their 
health and safety. 

 
EEEE.  “Weatherization Materials” shall have the same meaning as set forth in Part A of the Energy 

Conservation in Existing Buildings Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C. §§6861, 6862(9), as same may be 
amended from time to time. 

2. Application. 
 

A. An Applicant may have only one certified eligible standard Application and/or one 
ECIP Application per Program Year. 

 
B. An Applicant may resubmit a new Application if the Household’s Application has either been 

denied or withdrawn any time prior to the issuance of a Benefit. 
 

C. The Application will be processed in accordance with the requirements of this Section: 
 

1. The Subgrantee will begin taking Applications as prescribed by MaineHousing each 
Program Year. 

 
2. A Subgrantee will continue taking Applications until July 15 (or the first business day 

following July 15 if it falls on a weekend) of the Program Year. 
 

3. The Subgrantee shall accept Applications during normal business hours, which shall 
consist of a minimum of thirty (30) hours during each week through April 30 and a 
minimum of eight (8) hours during each week May 1 through July 15 of the Program 
Year. 

 
4. The Subgrantee must use forms provided or approved by MaineHousing to administer 

the Programs.  Additional forms may be used by the Subgrantee provided the forms 
have been reviewed and approved by MaineHousing.  Forms will be submitted for 
review and approval annually prior to the commencement of taking applications each 
program year. 

 
5. The Subgrantee will make a reasonable and good-faith effort during the first ninety (90) 

days it takes Applications to interview, process, and serve Priority Applicants who have a 
Direct Energy Cost. 

 
6. The Subgrantee will make a reasonable and good-faith effort to conduct outreach 

14



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 8 of 47 

activities and process applications for any Household that has wood as its primary 
Home Energy source within the first ninety (90) days of taking Applications for the 
Program Year. 

 
7. At Applicant’s request, and as otherwise appropriate, the Subgrantee must make 

reasonable accommodations for a Person with a Disability. 
 

8. Any Applicant may apply via telephone. The telephone Application process 
includes completing the Application over the telephone with the Subgrantee 
administering the Programs in the Service Area in which the Household resides; the 
Subgrantee mails the completed Application and other appropriate documents to 
the Primary Applicant for review, signature, and date. 

 
9. Limited English Proficiency (LEP) can be a barrier to accessing important benefits or 

services, understanding and exercising important rights, complying with applicable 
responsibilities, or understanding other information provided by the HEAP program. In 
order to address this concern Subgrantees must comply with MaineHousing’s Language 
Assistance Plan. 

 
10. Application must be made with the Subgrantee administering the Programs in the Service 

Area in which the Household resides. In the event an Application is received by a 
Subgrantee for a Household residing in a Service Area other than the Subgrantee’s 
designated Service Area, the Subgrantee shall notify the Primary Applicant of the error 
and forward the Application and supporting documentation to the applicable Subgrantee. 

 
11. Primary Applicant is responsible for providing all information necessary to establish 

the eligibility of a Household. The Subgrantee must verify the income and identity of 
the Applicant(s) as prescribed by HEAP Handbook. 

 
The Subgrantee shall verify Primary Applicant’s identity by requesting a valid government- 
issued, photo identification card. One of the following is acceptable to establish the 
identity of the Primary Applicant: 

 
a. Driver’s license; 

 
b. State issued ID card; 

 
c. Passport or passport card; 

 
d. U.S. Military ID; or 

 
e. SNAP electronic benefit transfer (EBT) card with photo. 

 
12. All Applicant(s) two years of age or older must provide proof of their Social Security 

Number (SSN), unless the Applicant’s SSN can be verified by using the electronic 
verification process established between MaineHousing and the Social Security 
Administration. One of the following documents is acceptable provided it contains all 
nine digits of the Applicant’s SSN and the Applicant’s full name: 

 
a. Social Security Card issued by the Social Security Administration; 

 
b. SSA-1099 tax form; 

15



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 9 of 47 

 
c. Non SSA-1099 tax form; 

 
d. Medicare card with card number ending with the suffix “A”; 

 
e. Valid unexpired U.S. Military documents such as DD Form 214 Certificate of 

Release or Discharge from Active Duty issued by the U.S. Department of Defense; 
 

f. Bank tax form; or 
 

g. W-2 (wage and tax statement). 
 

If the Household includes a child under the age of two who has not received a SSN, the 
Application is processed. However, the Primary Applicant must provide the child’s SSN 
for subsequent Program Year Applications. 

 
If a Household member is not a U.S. citizen, Applicant must provide a Social Security 
card issued by the Social Security Administration or an unexpired foreign passport with a 
valid unexpired U.S. Visa affixed accompanied by the approved I-94 form documenting 
the Applicant's most recent admittance into the United States, and documentation of 
Applicant’s status as a qualified alien pursuant to the Personal Responsibility and Work 
Opportunity Reconciliation Act of 1996, 8 USC §1641, such as a legal permanent 
resident, a refugee, an asylee, an individual paroled into the U.S. for a period of at least 
one (1) year, an individual whose deportation has been withheld, or an individual granted 
conditional entry. 

 
13. As part of the application process all Applicants 18 years of age or older must sign a 

release to grant permission to share their personal information, as follows: 
 

a. Maine Department of Health and Human Services, the Maine Department of 
Labor, and the Social Security Administration to share information with the 
Subgrantee or MaineHousing regarding information relevant to the Application 
about the Applicant at each of those agencies, including the benefits received from 
each of those agencies. 

 
b. Subgrantee and MaineHousing to provide information to and obtain 

information from the agencies listed above or others as needed to determine 
and confirm eligibility for MaineHousing programs and other programs 
administered by the Subgrantee. 

 
c. Subgrantee and MaineHousing to disclose Applicant information for the 

determination of eligibility for programs administered by State, federal, and 
local agencies. 

 
D. The information on an Application may be considered conflicting if it is inconsistent with 

verbal information provided by an Applicant, with other information on the Application, with 
prior Program Year Applications, or with information received from a third party. 

 
1. No information received from a third party, other than a government agency, will be 

used to determine eligibility, unless it is verified by an independent, reliable source. 
 

2. In the case where an Applicant's eligibility is in question because of conflicting 

16



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 10 of 47 

information received from a third party, the Subgrantee or MaineHousing shall allow the 
Primary Applicant an opportunity to amend the current Application or reaffirm the 
information on it. Primary Applicant may also withdraw Application at any time (prior 
to payment of Benefit). A new Application (rather than amended) would be required 
should an Applicant pursue assistance after withdrawal. 

 
3. If the Primary Applicant elects not to amend the Application, eligibility shall be based 

on information contained in the Application and documentation provided by the 
Primary Applicant, documentation provided by a government agency, or information 
verified by other sources. 

 
4. If verified information results in the Household being ineligible or determines the 

existence of Errors and Program Abuse or willful misrepresentation, the Application 
may be subject to denial or termination of Benefits. 

 
E. The Subgrantee will certify or deny an Application within thirty (30) business days from the Date 

of Application. 
 

1. Written notification of eligibility will be sent to the Primary Applicant within (10) ten 
calendar days of the decision or when funding is available, whichever is later. The 
benefit notification shall: 

a. State the Benefit amount; 
 

b. State the date the Benefit or a Credit Notification was sent to the Vendor; 
 

c. State the approved Home Energy type; 
 

d. State the manner by which the Primary Applicant can request an appeal, if 
applicable. 

 
2. Written notification of denial must be sent to the Primary Applicant within (3) 

three business days whether funding is available or not. The denial notification 
shall: 

 

a. State the facts surrounding the decision; 
 
b. State the reason(s) for the decision; 
 
c. State the manner by which the Applicant can request an appeal. 
 

A denial for missing information will be rescinded if the required information is received 
by the Subgrantee within (15) fifteen business days from the date of the denial 
notification. 

3. Eligibility. 
 

A. Except as may be expressly provided for elsewhere in this Rule, eligibility shall be determined on 
the basis of information submitted by the Primary Applicant as of the Date of Application. 
MaineHousing and Subgrantees reserve the right to ask for additional or clarifying information 
from Primary Applicant, Applicant(s), or third parties to determine eligibility. 

 
B. A Household may be eligible for Supplemental Benefits or TANF Supplemental Benefits if available. 

17



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 11 of 47 

 
C. MaineHousing uses the federal Poverty Income Guidelines and State Median Income Guidelines 

as reported annually by the United States Department of Health and Human Services. 
MaineHousing reserves the right to manage the Programs within those guidelines when 
determining benefits. MaineHousing will determine eligibility based on the availability of federal 
funding for the Programs during each Program Year. 

 
D. Dwelling Unit Eligibility. 

 
1. The Dwelling Unit must have a functioning Heating System. If the dwelling does not 

have a functioning Heating System, the Subgrantee may certify the Application for 
CHIP only provided the Application is complete and all applicable documentation has 
been provided. 

 
2. If the dwelling is not permanently connected to or serviced by the requiredstandard 

utilities such as electricity and water, the Subgrantee will obtain additional 
documentation to substantiate the Household occupies the dwelling as its primary 
residence on a full-time/year-round basis. 

 
3. Applicants residing in Subsidized Housing with heat included in their rent may be 

eligible for Fuel Assistance if the Household pays a portion of their rent or utility costs. 
MaineHousing will issue a Benefit in an amount which complies with Maine law to 
maximize benefits under SNAP. 

 
4. An Applicant who is self-employed and uses part of their Dwelling Unit for business 

may apply for the Programs. Benefits will be determined based on the rooms occupied 
and used by the Applicants as a residence; that part of the Dwelling Unit designated for 
business use will not be included. 

 
5. Applicants who reside in hotels and motels may be eligible for Fuel Assistance if 

the Household provides documentation that the hotel/motel has been their 
permanent residence for at least sixty (60) days prior to the Date of Application. 

 
6. If a Household’s Application has been certified eligible, but all Applicants move to 

Subsidized Housing with heat included or an ineligible Dwelling Unit prior to the Benefit 
being paid, Household may not be eligible for the entire Benefit depending on Date of 
Application and Home Energy use during current Program Year. 

 
7. A Household is not eligible for Programs when the Household resides in a Camper, 

regardless of any and all modification(s) or length, boat, railroad car, bus, yurt or other 
structure designed and constructed to provide temporary living quarters Dwelling 
units must be permanently affixed and not intended to be moved, including 
Campers. 

 
E. Household Eligibility. 

 
1. A Household is eligible for a Benefit if, on the Date of Application: 

 
a. it is a full-time resident of the State and resides or will reside in the Dwelling 

full-time for at least four (4) months during the Heating Season and; 
 

b. it intends to reside in the State through April 30; and; 

18



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 12 of 47 

 
c. it has a Direct Energy Cost or Indirect Determinable Energy Cost. 

 
If the Date of Application is on or after February 1, the Household may be eligible for a 
Benefit if the Household provides documentation that it has been a full-time resident of 
the State for at least 60 days. 

 
2. Pursuant to definition of Household, Eligible Household Members may also include: 

 
a. aliens who have obtained the status of an alien lawfully admitted for 

temporary residence under Section 210 of the Immigration and Nationality 
Act by approval of an application and are categorized as Special Agricultural 
Workers (SAW) who perform seasonal agricultural work during a specified 
period of time; 

 
b. an alien who has obtained the status of an alien lawfully admitted for 

temporary residence under Section 245A of the Immigration and Nationality 
Act by approval of an application and who is aged, blind and/or disabled as 
defined in Section 1605 of the Social Security Act (Public Law 74-271) or 
Cuban or Haitian aliens as defined in Public Law 96-422, Section 501 (e). 
Applicants are considered eligible if they have a Social Security card issued by 
the Social Security Administration, Green Card or show permanent Residents 
(I-551 Alien Registration Card, Passport, I-688B Employment authorization 
card, I-766 Employment Authorization Document, I-94 with R-1 or R-2 status 
designation). I-94 documents with no status designated only show permission 
to enter the U.S. but do not establish residency; 

 
c. Eligible minor children residing with ineligible non-citizens; 

d. a member of the Household who is away from the home part of the time is 
included as a Household member and their income must be included on the 
Application; 

 
e. a live-in care attendant will be considered part of the Household if the live- 

in care attendant does not meet the definition of a Live-in Care Attendant 
in Section 1 of this Rule. 

 
3. A full-time college student, up to age 23 years old, who is a dependent of the 

Household and resides in the Dwelling Unit on the Date of Application, may be 
excluded from the Household if the Primary Applicant chooses as long as the college 
student is not the Primary Applicant. If excluded from the Household, his or her 
income would not be counted. The Applicant must provide proof of student status 
and enrollment at a university, vocational college, business college, or other accredited 
institution for twelve 
(12) credit hours or more per semester.  

 
4. If otherwise eligible, Roomers and Boarders are eligible for a Benefit to the extent such 

Applicants prove that the rental arrangement giving rise to their Roomer or Boarder 
status was in existence for at least sixty (60) days prior to the Date of Application. At a 
minimum, such proof shall include verification that a reasonable market rate rent amount 
was paid by the Roomer or Boarder pursuant to the terms and conditions of the rental 
agreement for the entire sixty (60) day period. Roomers and Boarders cannot comingle 
funds or share expenses with lessor’s Household. 

19



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 13 of 47 

 
F. Eligibility is based on Household Income. Household Income is determined and verified in 

accordance with the information provided on the Application and verified as part of 
eligibility determination process. 

 
1. Household Income received during the three (3) calendar months or twelve (12) calendar 

months preceding the Date of Application. Primary Applicants must provide pay stubs, 
or a statement from all current or former employer(s), documenting Household Income 
received during the three (3) calendar months or twelve (12) calendar months income 
period prior to the Date of Application. 

 
2. Household Income includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

 
a. Wages, salaries, and bonuses before any taxes or deductions; 

 
b. Self-employment income. Households with self-employment income must use a 

current year's tax return if filed. If the Household has not filed a current year's tax 
return then the tax return for the previous year may be used. When supported by a 
tax return, self-employment income is defined as the total of net income (including 
net rental income) plus the total net gain from sales of capital goods or equipment 
plus depreciation. If the Applicant has not filed a tax return for the current or 
previous year, the Applicant may complete a self-employed income 
statement/worksheet accounting for the last 365 days of income. Supporting 
documentation must be provided to substantiate the information on the 
statement/worksheet. Deductions or expenses related to self-employment income 
shall not be factored in to the amounts counted as income unless the Applicant 
provided the complete tax return from the current or prior year. If the Household is 
using the three (3) month income verification period, self-employed income for the 
last 365 days, or annual income from tax return, will be prorated to three (3) months; 
 

c. Social Security Retirement (SS), Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) and 
Supplemental Security Income (SSI) Benefits. Benefits and Applicant identity may 
be verified by using the electronic verification process established between 
MaineHousing and the Social Security Administration. Errors documented by this 
process will be researched by the Subgrantee and corrected as applicable. In 
situations where Social Security benefits or Supplemental Security Income cannot be 
verified via the electronic verification process, the Subgrantee will assist the Primary 
Applicant in understanding the documentation requirements; 

 
d. Unemployment and worker's compensation and/or strike benefits from 

union funds; 
 

e. Spousal support or alimony received by an Applicant, or mortgage/rent 
payments in lieu of or in addition to payments; 

 
f. Court ordered or voluntary child support payments received by an Applicant, 

or mortgage/rent payments in lieu of or in addition to support payments; 
 

g. Military allotments (pay); 
 

h. Veteran’s Benefits; 
 

20



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 14 of 47 

i. Other support from an absent family member or someone not living in the 
Household excluding loans; 

 
j. Income of person living in the Household who is a non-qualified alien and 18 

years of age or older; 
 

k. Government employee pensions, private pensions, and regular annuity payments; 
 

l. Income from dividends, rents, royalties, estates, trusts, and interest. Interest 
income under $200.00 must be included as income, but does not need to be 
supported by documentation; 

 
m. Net rental income, including funds received from Roomers and Boarders; 

 
n. Winnings from any source of gambling or gaming is considered income including, 

but not limited to private gambling, lottery, horse racing, bingo, etc. 
 

o. TANF including Gap, and Pass-Through, or any other regular support 
from a government or private agency; 

 
p. Jury duty fees; 

 
3. Exemptions from Household Income include: 

 
a. Assets drawn down from financial institutions; 

 
b. Foster care payments; 

 
c. Adoption assistance; 

d. In-kind payments to an Applicant in lieu of payment for work, including the 
imputed value of rent received in lieu of wages or items received in barter for rent; 

 
e. Capital gains (for business purposes); 

 
f. Income from the sale of a primary residence, or personal car, or other personal property; 

 
g. Tax refunds; 

 
h. One-time insurance payments; 

 
i. One-time compensation for injury; 

 
j. Non-cash income such as General Assistance voucher payments, the bonus value 

of food and fuel produced and consumed on farms, and the imputed value of 
rent from owner-occupied farm housing; 

 
k. Bank loans, reverse mortgages, and home equity loans; 

 
l. Reimbursement for expenses incurred in connection with employment; 

 
m. Reimbursement for medical expenses; 

 

21



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 15 of 47 

n. Any funds received for education from grants, loans and scholarships, not 
to include and work study received as earned income; 

 
o. Retroactive payments and overpayment adjustments from an entitlement 

program for a time period outside of the period being considered for HEAP 
eligibility (i.e. worker’s comp, Social Security Benefits, etc.); 

 
p. Income earned by an Applicant who is a full time high school student; 

 
q. Income earned by a full-time college student who is not counted as a 

Household member pursuant to Section E.3 of this Rule; 
 

r. Combat zone pay to the military; 
 

s. Credit card loans/advances; 
 

t. All income used to fulfill a Social Security Administration Program to Achieve 
Self-Sufficiency (PASS); 

 
u. Federal payments or benefits excluded by law as set forth below: 

 
1. Payments received under Title II of the Uniform Relocation Assistance 

and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (84 Stat. 1902, 42 
U.S.C. 4636). 

 
2. Payments of land settlement judgments distributed to or held in trust 

for members of certain Indian Tribes under Public Laws 92-254, 93- 
134, 93-531, 94-114; 94-540, 97-458, 98-64, 98-123 and 98-124. 

 
3. Funds available or distributed pursuant to Public Law 96-420, the Maine 

Indian Claims Settlement Act of 1980 (25 U.S.C. 1721 et. seq.) to 

members of the Passamaquoddy Tribe, the Penobscot Nation and the 
Houlton Band of Maliseet Indians. 

 
4. The value of the allotment provided a household under the 

Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (7 U.S.C.A. 51). 
 

5. The value of assistance to children as excluded under the National School 
Lunch Act (42 U.S.C. 1760(e)) and under the Child Nutrition Act of 1966 
(42 U.S.C. 1780(b)). 

 
6. The value of commodities distributed under the Temporary 

Emergency Food Assistance Act of 1983 (Public Law. 98-8, 7 U.S.C. 
612c). 

 
7. Allowances, earnings and payments to individuals participating in 

programs under the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 
https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ovae/pi/AdultEd/wioa-
reauthorization.html  

 
8. Program benefits received under the Older Americans Act of 1965 (42 

U.S.C. sub-section 3020(a)[b]) as wages under the Senior Community 

22



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 16 of 47 

Service Employment Program (SCSEP). 
 

9. Payments to volunteers under the Domestic Volunteer Service Act of 
1973 (Public Law 93-113, 42 U.S.C. 5044). 

 
10. The value of any assistance paid with respect to a dwelling unit under the 

United States Housing Act of 1937, the National Housing Act, Section 
101 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1965, or Title V of 
the Housing Act of 1949. 

  

23



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 17 of 47 

 
11. The tax-exempt portions of payments made pursuant to the provisions 

of the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (Public Law 92-203, 43 
U.S.C. 1620(a)). 

 
12. Payments for supportive services or reimbursement of out-of-pocket 

expenses made to individual volunteers serving as foster grandparents, 
senior health aides, or senior companions, and to persons serving in the 
Service Corps of Retired Executives (SCORE) and Active Corps of 
Executives (ACE) and any other programs under Titles II and III, 
pursuant to Section 418 of Public Law 93-113. 

 
13. Any wages, allowances or reimbursement for transportation and 

attendant care costs, unless accepted on a case-by-case basis, when 
received by an eligible handicapped individual employed in a project 
under Title VI of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 as amended by Title II 
of Public Law No. 95-602. 

14. All student financial assistance including the following programs 
funded under Title IV of the Higher Education Act as amended: 

 
a. Pell Grants; 

 
b. Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants; 

 
c. Grants to States for State Student Incentives; 

 
d. Special Programs for Students from Disadvantaged Backgrounds; 

 
e. Special Programs for Students Whose Families are Engaged 

in Migrant and Seasonal Farm work; 
 

f. Robert C. Byrd Honors Scholarship Program; 
 

g. Assistance to Institutions of Higher Education; 
 

h. Veterans Education Outreach Program; 
 

i. Special Child Care Services for Disadvantaged College Students. 
 

j. Payments to veterans for Aid and Attendance benefits. 
 

4. For any Applicant who pays court ordered child support, the Subgrantee will deduct 
paid and documented child support payments made during the income period from the 
Applicant’s gross income. 

 
G. For any Household found ineligible due to being over income, the Subgrantee will deduct paid and 

documented medical expenses not reimbursed for the income period from the gross income in an 
amount only enough to make Household eligible. Medical expenses may include medical and 
dental insurance premiums and transportation to medical appointments. Subgrantees will use 
Internal Revenue Service Publication 502, as same may be amended from time to time, to identify 
eligible medical and dental expenses. 

 

24



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 18 of 47 

H. Primary Applicants may be required to refund any Overpayment. A Household’s Eligibility to 
receive benefits from Programs is contingent on the resolution of any Overpayment. 

 
1. MaineHousing will recoup all outstanding Overpayments from any current or 

future Benefits until the Overpayment is paid in full. MaineHousing will 
recoup 50% of a Household’s current Program Year’s Benefit and 50% of a 
Household’s future Program Years’ Benefits until the Overpayment has 
been paid in full. 

 
2. The Household will be eligible for ECIP if they have entered into and are in compliance 

with the terms of a repayment agreement with MaineHousing to resolve the 
Overpayment or the Overpayment has been paid in full. 

 
3. The Household will not be eligible to receive benefits under the Weatherization 

Assistance Program or CHIP until the Overpayment is paid in full. 
 

4. Benefit Determination. 
 

A. Benefits are determined to ensure that Eligible Households with the lowest income and the 
highest Energy Cost in relation to income, taking into account family size, will receive a higher 

Benefit. 
 

B. Tenants residing in Subsidized Housing with heat included in their rent, who pay a portion of their 
rent or utility costs, are only eligible to receive a Benefit in an amount that complies with Maine law 
to maximize benefits under SNAP. 

 
C. MaineHousing, or the Subgrantee as allowed by MaineHousing, will assign a number of points to 

an Eligible Household that correlates to their Energy Costs. The number of points will be adjusted 
by an assigned percentage that correlates to the Eligible Household’s poverty level. The adjusted 
number of points will then be multiplied by a dollar value based on the amount of the federal HEAP 
grant received and the number of Eligible Households served in the previous Program Year, the 
average Energy Cost for an Eligible Household in the previous Program Year, any anticipated 
increase or decrease in the federal HEAP grant to be received in the current Program Year, and any 
anticipated increase or decrease in average Benefits or the number of Eligible Households. 

 
MaineHousing will announce the actual dollar value of Consumption Based and DHLC points no 
later than the fifteen (15) calendar days following receipt of the federal HEAP grant award. 

 
1. The number of points assigned to an Eligible Household will be determined pursuant 

to the following: 
 

Calculated or Reported Energy Cost Points 
$0.01-$400 5 
$401-$800 10 
$801-$1200 15 
$1201-$1600 20 
$1601-$2000 25 
$2001-$2500 30 
$2501 and over 35 
Calculated or Reported Energy Cost falling between brackets will be rounded to the 
next higher or lower dollar amount, as appropriate. For example: 
$400.01-$400.49 will be rounded to $400; $400.50-$400.99 will be rounded to $401. 

25



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 19 of 47 

 
Poverty Level as Calculated under the 
Federal Poverty Income Guidelines (FPIG) 

Percentage of Points 

0%-25% 130% 
26%-50% 120% 
51%-75% 110% 
76%-100% 100% 
101%-125% 90% 
126%-150% 80% 
>than 150% FPIG but not exceeding the 
maximum of the greater of 150% FPIG or 
60% state median income 

70% 

Calculated poverty level amounts falling between brackets will be rounded to the 
next higher amount. For example: income at 75.1% will be rounded to 76%. 

 
All final point results that are fractional will be rounded up to the nearest whole number. 

 
2. Calculating Energy Costs. Energy Costs are calculated by the Consumption Based 

or DHLC method. 
 

a. Consumption Based. Energy Costs will be based on the Eligible Household’s 
actual Home Energy deliveries, as reported on the Annual Consumption Report, 

for the primary Heating System as declared on the Eligible Household’s 
Application. 

1. If the primary Heating System is electric, Energy Costs will be calculated 
by deducting $600 from the annual electricity cost as reported by the 
Vendor on the Annual Consumption Report. The $600 deduction 
eliminates accounts for the non-heating usage of electricity. 

 
2. If an Eligible Household resides in Subsidized Housing and has a Direct 

Energy Cost, any annual utility allowance for heating will be deducted 
from the Eligible Household’s Energy Cost reported by the Vendor on 
the Annual Consumption Report. 

 
2.3. If after the $600 is deducted for non-heating usage of electricity when 

applicable, and after annual utility allowances for heating are deducted 
from annual Household Energy Cost reported by the Vendor on the 
Annual Consumption report, the Household has a calculated energy 
cost of less than or equal to zero (0), the Household is only eligible to 
receive a Bbenefit in an amount to maximize benefits under the 
Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) 

 
3.4. Energy Cost will be calculated using the Consumption Based 

method provided the Eligible Household meets the following 
requirements: 

 
a. The Eligible Household has a Direct Energy Cost and; 

 
b. An Applicant occupied the residence for the entire 

previous Heating Season and; 
 

c. An Applicant had an eligible Application in the prior 

26



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 20 of 47 

Program Year and; 
 

d. The Eligible Household purchased all of their Home Energy for 
their primary Heating System from a Reporting Vendor(s) for 
the previous Heating Season and; 

 
e. Reporting Vendor(s) submitted an Annual Consumption Report 

to MaineHousing that provided the Eligible Household’s Home 
Energy delivery information and; 

 
f. The Eligible Household’s Energy Costs, as reported by 

Vendor(s) to MaineHousing, is for their residence only 
and; 

 
g. The Eligible Household’s primary Heating System does not 

use wood, wood pellets, corn, coal, or bio-bricks. 
 

b. Design Heat Load Calculation. DHLC shall be used to estimate the Energy Costs 
for Eligible Households that do not meet the requirements of the Consumption 
Based method. Under the DHLC, the number of rooms occupied by the Eligible 
Household shall be multiplied by the number of BTUs needed to heat an average 
sized room in a Dwelling Unit. That product will then be multiplied by the 
number of square feet of an average sized room in a Dwelling Unit. Next, that 
second product will be multiplied by the number of heating degree days of the 
Service Area in which the Eligible Household’s Dwelling Unit is located. That 
third product is then divided by one million BTUs. The quotient is then 
multiplied by the cost of the Eligible Household's primary Home Energy type per 
one million BTUs. That fourth product is then divided by the efficiency rate of 
the primary Home Energy type to arrive at the Eligible Household's amount of 
energy consumption. The cost per one million BTUs and efficiency rate of the 
Applicant's Home Energy type will be periodically established by MaineHousing. 

The DHLC is based on the following factors: 
 

1. The total number of rooms in the Dwelling Unit as listed on the 
Application. Hallways, bathrooms, and closets are not counted in 
the total number of rooms; 

 
2. An assumed standard room size for the Dwelling Unit type. 

Standard room sizes and BTUs required to heat a Dwelling Unit 
vary by Dwelling Unit type because average room size and surface 
area exposure to the elements vary by Dwelling Unit type. The 
standard room sizes and BTUs used for each Dwelling Unit type 
are as follows: 

 
Dwelling Unit Type Standard Room Size BTUs 
Stick-built/Modular 144 square feet 14.3 
Manufactured Home/mobile home 100 square feet 13 
Apartment 120 square feet 8.3 

 
 

3. The heating degree days for the Service Area. Heating degree 
days are determined by the National Weather Station in Gray, 

27



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 21 of 47 

Maine. 
 

 
Subgrantee 

 
Service Area - counties 

Heating 
Degree Days 

Aroostook County Action Program Aroostook 9543 
Community Concepts, Inc. Androscoggin, Oxford 7373 
Downeast Community Partners Washington, Hancock 7771 
Kennebec Valley Community Action Program Kennebec, Somerset 7680 
Kennebec Valley Community Action Program Lincoln, Sagadahoc 7420 
Penquis Community Action Program Penobscot, Piscataquis 8245 
Penquis Community Action Program Knox 7359 
The Opportunity Alliance Cumberland 7426 
Waldo Community Action Partners Waldo 7297 
Western Maine Community Action Franklin 8866 
York County Community Action Corporation York 7012 

 
 

4. The estimated BTUs required to heat the Dwelling Unit; 
 

5. Average cost per one million BTU. MaineHousing determines 
the average costs per one million BTU annually. Oil, kerosene, 
and propane costs are obtained by averaging the costs reported 
by the Governor’s Energy Office (GEO). Average costs for all 
other fuel types are based on a representative survey of Vendors’ 
pricing. 

 
6. The efficiency rate for the primary Home Energy type listed on 

the Application. The Energy Cost per one million BTU and 
efficiency rate are based on the primary Home Energy type 
specified on the Eligible Household’s Application. 

 
Home Energy Type Efficiency Rate 
Oil 65% 
Kerosene 65% 
Propane 65% 
Natural Gas 65% 
Electric 100% 
Firewood 50% 
Corn 60% 
Wood Pellets 80% 
Bio-bricks 80% 

 

7. For Tenants in Subsidized Housing with a Direct Energy Cost, the 
annual utility allowance for heating, as provided by property 
manager on the Subsidized Housing form, must be deducted 
from the estimated Energy Cost in order to determine the 
Eligible Household’s heat burden. 

 
7.8. If after annual utility allowances for heating are deducted from annual 

Household Energy Cost reported by the Vendor on the Annual 
Consumption report, the Household has a calculated energy cost of less 

28



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 22 of 47 

than or equal to zero (0), the Household is only eligible to receive a 
Bbenefit in an amount to maximize benefits under the Supplemental 
Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) 

 
5. Payment of Benefits. 

 

A. A Primary Applicant shall select a Vendor that will deliver Home Energy to the Eligible 
Household. Payment of Benefits will be made directly to the Vendor.  Except as set 
forth below, Vendors may be provided the option to choose to receive HEAP 
Benefits prior to delivery or post-delivery at MaineHousing’s discretion.   

 
1. For payment prior to delivery, MaineHousing, or a Subgrantee as allowed by 

MaineHousing, will pay a Benefit to the Vendor or within ten (10) business days of the 
date the Application is certified eligible or when HEAP grant funds are available, 
whichever is later. 
 

2. For payment post-delivery, MaineHousing, or a Subgrantee as allowed by 
MaineHousing, will provide a Credit Notification Report within ten (10) business days 
of the date the Application is certified eligible or when HEAP grant funds are available, 
whichever is later.  MaineHousing will make payment for HEAP Benefits after the 
Vendor makes delivery as authorized by MaineHousing.  
 

3. In the case of wood Vendors, MaineHousing, or a Subgrantee as allowed by 
MaineHousing, will make payment for a Benefit after the Vendor makes delivery as 
authorized by MaineHousing and/or the Subgrantee. The Vendor must return a 
completed purchase order, including Applicant and Vendor signatures, to 
MaineHousing, or a Subgrantee as allowed by MaineHousing, within sixty (60) calendar 
days of the date of purchase order issuance. Receipt of the purchase order must be 
entered into the MaineHousing database. Contingent on database entry, MaineHousing, 
or the Subgrantee as allowed by MaineHousing, will make payment within ten (10) 
business days of the signed purchase order receipt date. If the purchase order is not 
returned within sixty (60) calendar days of the date of issuance it may be considered 
void. Extensions may be granted by the MaineHousing on a case-by-case basis. 

 
B. If there is no Vendor that serves the area in which the Eligible Household resides then 

MaineHousing, or the Subgrantee as allowed by MaineHousing, may pay Benefits directly to 
the Primary Applicant. 

 
C. Payment of Benefits may be made directly to Tenants with an Indirect Determinable Energy Cost. 

 
6. TANF Supplemental Benefits. 

 
A. Except as may be expressly provided for elsewhere in this Rule, the use and administration of 

TANF Supplemental Benefits is subject to the standards for HEAP Benefits set forth in this Rule. 
 

B. Eligibility. A Household may be eligible for a TANF Supplemental Benefit if its Application for 
HEAP has been certified eligible in the current Program Year and if on the Date of Application: 

1. it included at least one member who was under the age of eighteen (18); and 
 

2. it did not reside in Subsidized Housing with heat included. 
 

C. Benefit Determination. The TANF Supplemental Benefit per Eligible Household per Program Year 

29



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 23 of 47 

shall be determined each Program Year by MaineHousing based on the projected number of 
Households eligible for TANF Supplemental Benefits and available funding. 

 
D. Payment of Benefits. Except in the case of utility Vendors, MaineHousing will make payment for a 

TANF Supplemental Benefit after the Vendor makes delivery as authorized by MaineHousing. The 
Vendor must submit a delivery ticket or invoice to MaineHousing together with a detailed account 
history showing delivery activity and payment activity from the previous May 1 through the date of 
the delivery being invoiced. MaineHousing will make payment within ten (10) business days of 
MaineHousing’s receipt and approval of the required documentation. 

 
7. Benefit Returns and Transfer: 

 
A. Program benefits may not be sold, released or otherwise conveyed, with or without consideration, 

by the Eligible Household or the Vendor without written authorization from MaineHousing. 
MaineHousing will only authorize such conveyances when circumstances arise that prevent the 
Eligible Household from using the Benefit and MaineHousing determines such conveyance is in 
the best interest of the Eligible Household and is consistent with the intent of the HEAP Act. 

 
B. Program benefits may be available for reissue or transfer during the Program Year of issue and up 

until April 30th of the Program Year immediately following when: 
 

1. All Applicant(s) move in State but continue with same Vendor. 
 

2. All Applicant(s) move in State and change Home Energy vendors. 
 

3. Household changes Vendor. 
 

4. All Applicant(s) move in State from a Dwelling Unit with Direct Energy Cost to a 
Dwelling Unit with heat included in their rent (not including Subsidized Housing). 

 
5. All Applicant(s) move in State to Subsidized Housing with Direct Energy Cost. 

 
6. Household changes Home Energy type. 

 
7. Primary Applicant has deceased and there are surviving Applicants remaining in the 

Household (unless surviving Applicant moves in State to a Household that has received a 
Benefit in the current Program Year). 

 
C. Household may be required to provide in writing the following in order to receive a Benefit 

reissue or transfer: 
 

1. Primary Applicant’s name. 
 

2. Previous address. 
 

3. Current address. 
 

4. Current phone number. 
 

5. Current rental agreement or current property tax bill, whichever is relevant. 
 

6. Current electric/utility company name and account number. 

30



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 24 of 47 

 
7. Name on the electric/utility company account. 

 
8. Primary Heating System and Home Energy type. 

 
9. Fuel tank location. 

 
10. Current Home Energy Vendor name, address, and account number. 

 
11. Primary Applicant’s signature and date submitted. 

 
If for any reason the requested documentation is not provided, the reissuance or transfer of 
Benefits may be delayed and/or Benefits may be forfeited. 

 
D. Benefits may not be eligible for reissue or transfer when: 

 
1. It is determined that Primary Applicant committed Errors and Program Abuse 

when completing the Application. 
 

2. It is determined that there was an Overpayment. 
 

3. Primary Applicant’s permanent residence changes to a nursing home or long term 
care facility and there are no surviving Applicants remaining in the Household. 

 
4. All Applicant(s) move to Subsidized Housing with heat included. 
5. Primary Applicant moves in State into a Household that has been determined eligible for 

a Benefit in the current Program Year. 
 

6. The Benefit was issued before the previous or current Program Year. 
 

7. The Benefit was issued the previous Program Year and was not used on or before April 
30th of the Program Year immediately following. 

 
8. All Applicant(s) move to an ineligible Dwelling Unit. 

 
9. Primary Applicant has deceased and there are no surviving Applicants remaining in 

the Household. 
 

10. All Applicants move out of State. 
 

If the Household subsequently moves to an eligible Dwelling Unit, the Benefit may be eligible 
for reissue provided the Benefit was for the previous or current Program Year. 

 
E. In the event Vendor receives a Benefit return form requesting the return of Benefits paid to Vendor 

on behalf of Eligible Households, Vendor shall return such Benefits to MaineHousing within fifteen 
(15) calendar days of date of Benefit return form. Once the funds are received, MaineHousing will 
process the reissue or transfer as appropriate within fifteen (15) calendar days. 
 

8. Energy Crisis Intervention Program (ECIP). 
 

A. A Household may be eligible for ECIP if a Household member’s health and safety is threatened by 
an Energy Crisis situation and the Household does not have the financial means to avert the Energy 

31



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 25 of 47 

Crisis. The Subgrantee will determine whether the Household is experiencing an Energy Crisis on 
the Date of Application. 

 
1. An Eligible Household is income eligible for ECIP. If a Household has not been 

certified eligible for a Benefit, the Household’s income eligibility for ECIP will be based 
on one of the following timeframes, whichever allows eligibility: 

 
a. The twelve (12) calendar months immediately preceding the Date of Application 

for ECIP; 
 

b. The three (3) calendar months immediately preceding the Date of Application 
for ECIP; 

 
c. The calendar month immediately preceding the Date of Application for ECIP; or 

 
d. The thirty (30) days immediately preceding the Date of Application for ECIP. 

 
2. To determine if Household is in Energy Crisis: 

 
a. Reading of 1/8 tank or less on a standard 275 gallon heating oil tank; 

 
b. Reading of 25% or less on a propane tank; 

 
c. 3-day or less supply for other delivered Home Energy types. 

 
3. To determine an Energy Crisis with respect to utility terminations: 

 
a. Household has received a disconnection notice; and 

 
b. Household has exhausted its ability to negotiate and pay the terms of a reasonable 

payment arrangement. 
 

B. Allowable expenditures must be related to averting an Energy Crisis and may include: 
 

1. Home Energy deliveries provided the Eligible Household has exhausted any 
remaining Benefits previously issued to a Vendor on behalf of the Eligible 
Household; 

1.2. Delivery charges associated with fuel deliveries made against an ECIP 
benefit and/or an upfront delivery made against a Household’s regular 
benefit to avert an energy crisis situation. 

 
2.3. Surcharges, reconnection charges, or penalties related to a final utility disconnect 

notice. Utility costs must be directly related to the operation of the Heating System; 
 

3.4. Heating System repair, including restart fees; 
 

4.5. Purchase of space heaters; 
 

5.6. Temporary relocation provided the Eligible Household is experiencing a Life 
Threatening Crisis that cannot be averted within 18 hours by one of the above 
measures; 

6.7. Rental payment assistance provided the Eligible Household is a Tenant whose 

32



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 26 of 47 

rent includes heat and is facing eviction due to nonpayment of rent. 
 

C. Unallowable Expenditures: 
 

1. ECIP funds cannot be used to pay solely for a delivery charge. 
 

2.1. ECIP funds cannot be used if the Household has any other Heating System that is safe, 
operable and is capable of heating the dwelling adequately during severe cold weather, 
and has a supply of product for that Heating System. 

 
3.2. ECIP funds cannot be used to pay for surcharges, reconnection charges, or penalties 

related to a final utility disconnect when that utility is not required for the operation of 
the primary Heating System. 

 
4.3. ECIP funds cannot be used to pay for Home Energy deliveries or Heating System 

repairs if the Applicant resides in Subsidized Housing with heat included or a Rental 
Unit with heat included. 

 
5.4. An Applicant with an Overpayment balance is not eligible for ECIP benefits unless 

they have entered into and are in compliance with the terms of a repayment 
agreement with MaineHousing to resolve the Overpayment. 

 
D. The maximum ECIP benefit per Eligible Household per Program Year shall be determined each 

Program Year by MaineHousing based on Home Energy costs, economic conditions, and available 
funding. 

 
E. ECIP will be administered pursuant to HEAP: 

 
1. ECIP timeframe is November 1 through the following April 30; 

 
2. Conditioned on the availability of ECIP funds, some form of assistance that will resolve 

the Energy Crisis, if Household is eligible to receive such benefits, will be provided 
within 48 hours after Household has been certified eligible for ECIP; 

 
3. Conditioned on the availability of ECIP funds, some form of assistance that will resolve 

the Energy Crisis, if Household is eligible to receive such benefits and is in a Life 
Threatening Crisis situation, will be provided within 18 hours after a Household has 
been certified eligible for ECIP. 

 
F. The Subgrantee will provide the Primary Applicant written notice of ECIP denial within three 

(3) business days. 
 

G. If a Household receives ECIP and it is subsequently determined that the Household was not 
eligible, MaineHousing or the Subgrantee may require the Household to repay the amount of 
ECIP. MaineHousing will recoup all outstanding Overpayments from any current or future 
Benefits until the Overpayment is paid in full. MaineHousing will recoup 50% of a 
Household’s current Pprogram Yyear’s Bbenefit and 50% of a Household’s future 
Pprogram Yyear’s’ Bbenefits until the Overpayment has been paid in full.. 

 
H. ECIP Payment to Vendors. 

1. Except in the case of wood Vendors, MaineHousing, or a Subgrantee as allowed by 
MaineHousing, will make payment for ECIP after the Vendor makes delivery as 

33



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 27 of 47 

authorized by MaineHousing/Subgrantee. The Vendor must return a completed 
purchase order and a delivery ticket to MaineHousing/Subgrantee. The Vendor must 

also submit an invoice if the total amount on the delivery ticket is greater than the 
ECIP purchase order amount or the delivery ticket does not account for all the charges 
that were approved on the purchase order. Receipt of the purchase order must be 
entered into the MaineHousing database. Contingent on database entry, MaineHousing 
will make payment within ten (10) business days of the receipt of the completed 
purchase order, a delivery ticket, and invoice (if applicable). 

 
2. In the case of wood Vendors, MaineHousing, or a Subgrantee as allowed by 

MaineHousing, will make payment for ECIP after the Vendor makes delivery as 
authorized by MaineHousing/Subgrantee. The Vendor must return a completed 
purchase order, including Applicant and Vendor signatures, to 
MaineHousing/Subgrantee. Receipt of the purchase order must be entered into the 
MaineHousing database. Contingent on database entry, MaineHousing/Subgrantee 
will make payment within ten (10) business days of the signed purchase order receipt 
date. 

 
9. Central Heating Improvement Program (CHIP). 

 
A. Eligibility. A Household may be eligible for CHIP if the Household: 

 
1. is eligible for HEAP Fuel Assistance benefits; 
1.2. has a household income less than or equal to 200% Federal Poverty Level; 

 
2.3. has an eligible Application that was certified within the preceding twelve (12) months; 

and 
 

3.4. does not have a more recent Application that has been certified-denied. 
 

B. Subgrantees shall provide CHIP services based on the following priority order: 
 

1. Eligible Households experiencing an Energy Crisis caused by Heating System 
malfunction or failure. 

 
2. Non-wood Heating Systems that cannot achieve a minimum steady state efficiency of 

70% (as determined by a CTE). 
 

3. Preventative CTE and minor repairs on a non-emergency basis (owner-occupied 
dwelling units only). Date of the last CTE by a licensed technician must be more than 
twelve (12) months prior to the initiation of services date. 

 
4. The installation of a Heat Pump. 

 
Eligible Households shall be served on a first-come, first-served basis with respect to each 
level of priority except when the Subgrantee is providing weatherization services to a 
Dwelling Unit. In this case, CHIP activities to Eligible Households that enable the 
Subgrantee to leverage funds may be served first. 

 
C. Subgrantees shall administer and operate CHIP in their Service Areas unless otherwise determined by 

MaineHousing. 
 

34



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 28 of 47 

D. Heating System Replacement. Household may be eligible for assistance to replace a Heating 
System if the Household is eligible for Benefits pursuant to this Rule. The amount of assistance 
shall take into account the Applicant Household’s and Non-occupying Co-owner’s Countable 
Assets. 

 

1. The Applicant Household will be required to contribute toward the cost of replacing 
the Heating System if the Applicant Household has Countable Assets in excess of 

$5,000, or $50,000 if a member of the Applicant Household is an Elderly Person. The 
same guidelines apply to Non-occupying Co-owner’s Countable Assets. 

 
The overall purpose of these asset limitations is to encourage a Household’s 
contribution to meeting their needs, when possible, and at the same time recognize 
that household assets represent needed income and insurance against financial 
calamities, and that it is prudent to retain these assets to some extent. 

 
2. An Applicant Household’s contribution shall be determined by subtracting $5,000 or 

$50,000 (whichever is applicable) from its total Countable Assets. That difference will 
then be multiplied by the Applicant Household’s percentage of ownership. A Non- 
occupying Co-owner’s contribution shall be similarly calculated. The maximum CHIP 
benefit amount shall be determined by subtracting the sum of the Applicant 
Household’s and Non-occupying Co-owner’s contributions from the total replacement 
costs. 

 
E. Rental Units Occupied By An Eligible Household: A life-time maximum benefit of $400 for an 

Eligible Household. The maximum allowed in a non-owner occupied multi-family building is 
the lesser of $400 times the number of Heating Systems that provide heat to Eligible 
Households or $1,600. 

 
F. Life Estates and Life Leases: If an Eligible Household member holds a life estate or life lease 

interest in and occupies the Dwelling Unit, the Dwelling Unit may be eligible if: 
 

1. the document conferring the Applicant’s rights of the life estate or life lease states 
that the Eligible Household member is responsible for maintaining the Dwelling 
Unit, or is silent as to who is responsible for maintenance; or 

 
2. the Dwelling Unit is owned by an Eligible Household. 

 
G. Proof of Ownership. The Subgrantee shall verify ownership of all Dwelling Units and Rental Units 

prior to performing any work. Proof of ownership may include current property tax bill, statement 
from the local tax assessor, town clerk or similar municipal official, or documentation from 
electronic registry. 

 
Life estates and life leases require a copy of the document conferring the Applicant’s rights. 

 
The Subgrantee must obtain the written permission of the owner of the Rental Unit prior to 
performing any work on the Heating System unless the Tenant has exercised his or her right under 
14 M.R.S.A. Section 6026 to make certain repairs. 

 
H. A Dwelling Unit will not be eligible under CHIP if: 

1. Dwelling Unit is a Rental Unit that has received prior CHIP services to the life- 
time maximum benefit; 

 

35



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 29 of 47 

2. Dwelling Unit has been designated for acquisition or clearance by a federal, state, 
or local program or order; 

 
3. Dwelling Unit has been designated for foreclosure; 

 
4. Dwelling Unit is for sale; 

5. Dwelling Unit is vacant; 
 

6. Dwelling Unit is uninhabitable as determined by a local municipality, State Agency, 
MaineHousing, or a Community Action Agency; 

 
7. Dwelling Unit is in poor structural condition making the installation of CHIP 

services impractical, impossible, or ineffective; 
 

8. Dwelling Unit is in such poor structural condition that the proposed CHIP services 
would have a longer life expectancy than the Dwelling Unit; 

 
9. Dwelling Unit has been damaged by fire, flood or an act of God and repair of the 

damage is covered by insurance; 
 

10. There are obvious discrepancies found between the information supplied on the 
Application and observed conditions during the CHIP process. The Subgrantee 
must resolve any discrepancies before work can continue; 

 
11. Subgrantee determines the Applicant failed to properly maintain a Heating System 

that was previously repaired or replaced under CHIP. 
 

12. Eligible Households who apply for CHIP services for more than one Dwelling 
Unit will be subject to additional review to ensure the requested services are 
consistent with the intent of the program. 

 
I. CHIP Allowable Uses: 

 
1. Cleaning, tuning, and evaluating oil or gas systems; 

 
2. Cleaning, evaluating, and servicing solid fuel systems; 

 
3. Replacing oil or gas burners; 

 
4. Replacing cracked heat exchangers; 

 
5. Replacing oil, gas, electric or solid fuel Heating Systems; 

 
6. Sealing and insulating Heating System pipes or ducts in unconditioned spaces; 

 
7. Installing electrical or mechanical Heating System ignition systems; 

 
8. Replacing or relocating thermostats and anticipator adjustment; 

 
9. Baffling of the combustion chamber; 

36



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 30 of 47 

 
10. Optimizing the firing rate; 

 
11. Cleaning of the chimney; 

 
12. Smoke Alarms; 

 

13. Fire extinguishers; 
 

14. Carbon Monoxide detectors; 
 

15. Oil tanks; 
 
15.16. Oil tank gauges; 
 
16. Installation of a Heat Pump; 

 
17. Other measures necessary to bring Heating Systems into compliance with applicable State and 

local codes and Maine Fuel Board requirements; and 
 

18. Other measures necessary to correct any Heating System problems that pose an immediate 
threat to the health and safety of the Eligible Household. 

 
J. CHIP Unallowable Uses: 

 
1. Reimbursement or payment for purchases made by or costs incurred by an Applicant. 

 
2. Replacement of a Heating System if the Dwelling Unit received a prior Heating System 

replacement funded by CHIP unless the Heating System is near the end of or beyond its estimated 
useful life as defined by 
https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/EUL_FOR_CNA_E_TOOL.PDF 
 

K. Fuel Switching. As a general guideline, the practice of fuel switching is not allowed. However, if the 
Subgrantee determines that the switching of a fuel source is warranted, then a written waiver request 
should must be submitted to MaineHousing for review and consideration (on a case-by-case basis) 
prior to the installation. 

 
L. Subgrantee must perform a final inspection on all CHIP services in excess of 

$1,000for heating system replacement jobs. Inspections will include an evaluation 
to determine: 

 
1. Compliance with applicable codes; 

 
2. That all work performed was authorized by the Subgrantee; and 

 
3. The combustion efficiency level of the Heating System where technically feasible. 

 
M. Specific Procurement Requirements. Prior to the performance of CHIP services, the Subgrantee 

shall follow the procedures below: 
 

1. Procurement less than or equal to $10,000. Procurement of services, including 
materials, equipment and services from specialized trades, such as electricians, 

37



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 31 of 47 

plumbers, masons and oil burner repair people shall be performed in accordance with 
the following procedures. 

a. Solicit by phone, email, vendor website, catalog, or price list, or similar means 
one price quote for the required materials, equipment and services. 

 
b. Determine if the quoted price is reasonable based on one or more factors 

identified by Subgrantee, such as recent purchases of, or research on, goods or 
services of the same kind or related knowledge or expertise; otherwise, solicit 
two price quotes by similar means. 

 
c. Copies of all procurement records, including basis for the contractor selection 

and factors used to determine if the quoted price is reasonable, must be retained 
in the Subgrantee files. 

2. Procurement over $10,000. Procurement of services, including materials, equipment 
and services from specialized trades, such as electricians, plumbers, masons and oil 
burner repair people shall be performed in accordance with the following procedures. 

 
a. Perform a price survey for the required materials, equipment and services. 

 
b. Make every reasonable attempt to receive price quotations or bids from at least 

three (3) reputable Contractors and fully document the bid process and all bids 
received on a survey sheet. 

 
c. Purchase the materials, equipment or services from the Contractor whose bid or 

proposal is the lowest, taking into consideration the Contractor’s performance 
record and other relevant factors. Fully document the selection process. 

 
d. Copies of all procurement records, including basis for contractor selection must be 

retained in the Subgrantee files. 
 

3. The Subgrantee must prepare an Invitation to Bid or a Request for Proposal, which: 
 

a. Identifies all requirements which prospective bidders must fulfill, including the 
due dates for bids; and 

 
b. Identifies all factors which the Subgrantees will consider in evaluating and 

awarding bids. 
 

4. The Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposal must be mailed, faxed or emailed to no less 
than three (3) prospective contractors who may reasonably be expected to submit a bid. 

 
5. All bids must be received by the Subgrantee contact person via mail, fax or e-mail prior to 

a specified time for a bid opening at a specified time and location. All bids received must 
be kept in a secure location prior to all bids being received and tabulated. In addition, all 
correspondence relating to the procurement action must be retained in the bid files. 

 
6. Sole Source Procurement. Subgrantee may solicit a proposal from only one source for 

one of the following reasons. 
 

a. Sole source procurement may be used in the following instances: 
 

1. Emergency or Urgent Need. An emergency situation or other urgent need 

38



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 32 of 47 

exists and only one known source can provide the required goods or 
services within the time needed. Emergency or urgent situations include, 
but are not limited to, natural disasters or a Life Threatening Crisis. 

 
2. Uniqueness. The item or service is available from only one source, based 

on a reasonable, good faith review of the market for the type of item or 
service needed. 

 
3. Inadequate Competitive Proposals. After evaluation of all proposals 

submitted in a competitive procurement, all proposals are determined to be 
inadequate. 

b. Subgrantee shall submit a written statement justifying the use and approval of all 
sole source procurements, in excess of $10,000 to MaineHousing for its 
consideration prior to the installation of services. 

 
c. Subgrantee will retain a copy of the solicitation and the proposal received in 

response, a record of the approval by MaineHousing in Subgrantee’s records. 
 

10. HEAP Weatherization. 
 

A. The purpose of HEAP Weatherization is to reduce Eligible Households’ need for Fuel Assistance, 
particularly those with the lowest Household Incomes that pay a high proportion of Household 
Income for Home Energy and those that include Priority Applicants. 

 
B. Using HEAP Weatherization in conjunction with U.S Department of Energy (DOE) funds: If the 

requirements in this Rule conflict with those required by 10 CFR Part 440, DOE requirements 
shall have precedence. HEAP Weatherization funds may only be used to weatherize Dwelling 
Units occupied by Eligible Households. 

 
C. Weatherization measures must be installed in accordance with the Maine Weatherization Standards, 

as may be amended from time to time. 
 

D. Eligibility. A Household may be eligible for HEAP Weatherization if the Household: 
 

1. is eligible for Benefits pursuant to this Rule; 
 

2. has an Application certified-eligible within the twelve (12) months preceding the date of 
the Subgrantee’s energy audit of the Dwelling Unit; and 

 
3. does not have a more recent Application that has been certified-denied. 

 
Apart from the eligibility criteria identified in D.1-3., a Household may qualify for HEAP 
Weatherization if the: 

i. Household’s Application was denied solely based on the Household Income 
exceeding the income limits for Benefits; and 

ii. Household Income does not exceed the DOE income threshold. 
 

E. Proof of Ownership. The Subgrantee shall verify ownership of all Dwelling Units and Rental Units 
prior to performing any work. Proof of ownership may include current property tax bill, statement 
from the local tax assessor, town clerk or similar municipal official, or documentation from 
electronic registry. 

39



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 33 of 47 

 
Life estates and leases require a copy of the document conferring the Applicant’s rights. 

 
The Subgrantee must obtain the written permission of the owner of the Rental Unit prior to 
performing any work. 

 
F. A Dwelling Unit will not be eligible under HEAP Weatherization if: 

1. Dwelling Unit received weatherization services under HEAP Weatherization or another 
MaineHousing program within ten (10) years of the date of Application. 

 
2. Dwelling Unit has been designated for acquisition or clearance by a federal, state, or 

local program or order; 
 

3. Dwelling Unit has been designated for foreclosure; 
 

4. Dwelling Unit is for sale; 
 

5. Dwelling Unit is vacant; 
 

6. Dwelling Unit is uninhabitable as determined by a local municipality, State Agency, 
MaineHousing, or a Community Action Agency ; 

 
7. Dwelling Unit is in poor structural condition making the installation of HEAP 

Weatherization services impractical, impossible, or ineffective; 
 

8. Dwelling Unit is in such poor structural condition that the proposed HEAP 
Weatherization services would have a longer life expectancy than the Dwelling Unit; 

 
9. Dwelling Unit has been damaged by fire, flood or an act of God and repair of the 

damage is covered by insurance; 
 

10. There are obvious discrepancies found between the information supplied on the 
Application and observed conditions during the HEAP Weatherization process. The 
Subgrantee must resolve any discrepancies before work can continue. 

 
G. Allowable Uses: 

 
1. Weatherization needs assessments/audits; 

 
2. Air sealing and insulation; 

 
3. Storm windows; 

 
4. Heating System modifications/repairs; 

 
5. Heating System replacements; 

 
6. Heating System cleaning, tuning, and evaluating; 

 
7. Compact fluorescent light bulbs; 

40



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 34 of 47 

 
8. Energy related roof repairs; 

 
9. Major appliance repairs/replacements, including water heaters, provided total cost of the 

appliances does not exceed 20% of the labor and material costs associated with the 
installation of energy conservation measure or one appliance if the 20% will not cover the 
repair/replacement cost of one appliance; 

 
10. Incidental Repairs – per unit average not to exceed 20%; 

 
11. Health and safety measures – per unit average not to exceed $1,200; 

 
12. Replacement windows and doors are allowable only under exceptional circumstances 

and only after all other reasonable repair options have been considered and rejected. 
 

H. Fuel Switching: As a general guideline, the practice of fuel switching when replacing Heating 
Systems is not allowed. However, if the Subgrantee determines that the switching of a fuel source is 
warranted, then a written waiver request should be submitted to MaineHousing for review and 
consideration (on a case-by-case basis) prior to the installation. 

 
I. Work on an eligible Dwelling Unit previously weatherized under a MaineHousing program may be 

reopened if: 
 

1. the reopening occurs within six (6) months of completion of the original weatherization 
service; and 

 
2. The reopening is required because the previous service is the proximate cause of an 

immediate threat to the health and safety of the occupants; or 
 

3. The quality of weatherization material or its installation is deemed deficient by 
MaineHousing. 

 
J. Subgrantees shall administer and operate HEAP Weatherization in their Service Areas, unless 

otherwise authorized by MaineHousing. 
 

K. For the purposes of HEAP Weatherization, Subgrantees must conduct a public bid process to 
secure weatherization contractors at least annually as prescribed by MaineHousing. 

 
11. Administration of the Program. 

 
A. MaineHousing will prepare and submit to the Secretary of the United States Department of Health 

and Human Services an annual State Plan for HEAP in conformity with the provisions of the HEAP 
Act. MaineHousing will notice a public hearing for the purpose of taking comments on the State 
Plan and will also prepare a transcript of such comments. 

 
B. HEAP Handbook. The HEAP Handbook is an operations manual for the administration of the 

Programs. This Rule shall control in the event of any inconsistency between the HEAP Handbook 
and this Rule. 

 
C. General. To the extent practicable, MaineHousing will contract with Subgrantees for the purpose of 

administering the Programs and may require the Subgrantee to provide benefits in connection 
therewith, including Supplemental Benefits if such benefits become available during the Program 

41



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 35 of 47 

Year, to Eligible Households. MaineHousing may, in its discretion, provide benefits in connection 
with the Programs and make prepayments, installment payments and advances with or without 
interest in connection therewith, including without limitation, payment of direct benefits to Eligible 
Households or Vendors, or may contract with other entities, such as municipalities, to administer the 
Programs and provide benefits. 

 
D. Conflict of Interest. No employee, officer, board member, agent, consultant or other representative 

of Subgrantee, Vendor, or Contractor who exercises or has exercised any function or responsibility 
with respect to Programs' activities or who is in a position to participate in a decision-making process 
or gain inside information with regard to these activities, may obtain a financial interest or benefit 
from Programs' activities or have an interest in any contract, subcontract or agreement regarding the 
Programs' activities, or the proceeds there under, which benefits him or her or any person with 
whom he or she has business or family ties. Subgrantees, Vendors, and Contractors shall notify 
MaineHousing of any potential conflict of interest. 

 
E. Confidentiality. Subgrantees, Vendors, Contractors, and their employees and agents shall 

keep confidential: 

Applicant or beneficiary information obtained in the administration of the Programs, including 
without limitation, an individual’s name, address and phone number, household income, assets or 
other financial information, and benefits received (“Confidential Information”). 

 
Subgrantees, Vendors, Contractors, and their employees and agents shall safeguard and protect from 
disclosure at all times Confidential Information including, without limitation, taking the following 
steps: 

 
1. Put measures in place to prevent the loss, theft, misappropriation or inadvertent 

disclosure of Confidential Information. 
 

2. Encrypt all Confidential Information contained on computers, laptops, and other 
electronic devices and media used in whole or in part, in the operation or administration 
of the Programs. 

 
3. Send e-mail or e-mail attachments containing Confidential Information only if encrypted 

or only through a secure e-mail server. 
 

4. Make their employees, officers, agents, contractors, sub-contractors and other 
representatives who operate or administer any of the Programs or otherwise provide 
services under the Programs aware that the responsibility to safeguard and protect 
Confidential Information applies at all times, whether or not they are at a work location 
during normal business hours. 

 
5. Limit disclosure to persons with a direct need to know. 

 
F. MaineHousing will conduct program and fiscal monitoring of Subgrantees and Vendors to ensure 

compliance with Federal, State, and MaineHousing rules and regulations in a manner consistent with 
applicable State law, as may be amended from time to time, and the HEAP Act. 

 
12. Subgrantees. 

 
A. Service Areas. MaineHousing will select at least one Subgrantee to administer the Programs in each 

Service Area. 
 

42



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 36 of 47 

B. Selection of Subgrantees. Subgrantees will be selected annually based on the following criteria: 
 

1. Experience with providing Fuel Assistance or similar programs to low-income persons; 
 

2. Current capacity to administer a timely and effective Fuel Assistance program for 
the intended Service Area; 

 
3. Demonstrated capacity to adequately serve low-income persons residing in their Service 

Areas; 
 

4. The availability of other qualified entities to service a particular area; 
 

5. The geographic area customarily serviced by the potential Subgrantee; 
 

6. Cost efficiency in administering a Fuel Assistance program; 
 

7. The ability to enhance accessibility to other low-income programs administered 
by the Subgrantee; 

8. Acceptable schedule for taking Applications; and 
 

9. The ability to perform outreach activities and serve homebound recipients. 
 

Subgrantees shall make annual, written applications to MaineHousing that address each 
of the criteria listed above. Subgrantee applications must be received no later than 
June 1 of each year. 

 
C. Allocation to Each Subgrantee. MaineHousing will determine the annual allocation of  HEAP 

funds to each Subgrantee, the amount of which annual allocation shall not include any 
amount of HEAP funds allocated to MaineHousing to pay Benefits in the event 
MaineHousing elects to provide Benefits directly. MaineHousing may base any allocation 
determination on the number of Applications certified eligible in the Service Areas in the 
previous Program Year. 

 
D. Subgrantee Administrative and Program Expenses. Subgrantees shall be permitted 

administrative and program expenses necessary to carry out their responsibilities under this 
Rule and the Programs. Such expenses will be allowed in a manner consistent with the 
provisions of the HEAP Act and must be reasonable in amount as determined by 
MaineHousing following its review of the Subgrantee work plans and budgets. Allowable 
administrative and program expenses for each of the Programs are listed below. Other 
expenses may be allowed if authorized by MaineHousing before the expenses are incurred. 

 
 

Fuel Assistance and ECIP Expense Category 

Salary and fringe benefit costs for the actual time an individual 
performs intake, processing, or eligibility determination functions 
associated with an active Application 

Program 

Salary and fringe benefit costs for the actual time an individual 
participates in administering Fuel Assistance or ECIP and is not 
performing functions associated with an active Application 

AdministrativeProgra
m 

43



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 37 of 47 

Salary and fringe benefits and other related and reasonable costs 
for specific HEAP and ECIP training and professional 
development of individuals performing intake, application 
processing, eligibility determination, and administration of 
HEAP fuel assistance and ECIP 

Program 

Space costs/rent, telephone, copier/printing, office supplies, postage, 
transportation/travel, data processing/computer costs, equipment 
repairs and maintenance, equipment purchase/lease, and 
consultants/professional services associated with the above referenced 
activities. 

AdministrativeProgra
m 

Indirect costs Administrative 

Salary and fringe benefits and other related and reasonable costs for 
specific HEAP and ECIP training and professional development for 
individuals whose salary and fringe benefits arend budgeted directly to 
Administrative Costs or for whom salary and fringe are included in the 
agency’s Indirect Rate 

Administrative 

Salary and fringe costs, space costs, rent, telephone, copying, printing, 
office supplies, postage, transportation, travel, data processing, 
computer costs, equipment repairs and maintenance, equipment 
purchase or lease, consultant fees and professional services associated 
with the administration of HEAP not included in the agency’s Indirect 
Rate or allowable from program funding 

Administrative 

HEAP Weatherization and CHIP Expense Category 

Material/labor costs for Heating system repairs/replacements and 
measures installed as part of weatherization 

Program 

Either salary and fringe benefit costs for the actual time staff 
participates in administering HEAP Weatherization or CHIP or a 
program management fee established by MaineHousing. 

Program 

Space costs/rent, telephone, copier/printing, office supplies, postage, 
transportation/travel, equipment purchase/lease, liability insurance, 
pollution occurrence insurance, and consultants/professional services. 

Program 

Indirect costs Administrative 

Assurance 16 Services Expense Category 

Salary and fringe benefit costs for staff providing direct services and 
the direct administrative costs associated with providing the services, 
such as the costs for supplies, equipment, travel, postage, utilities, 
rental and maintenance of office space 

Program 

 

E. Assurance 16 Activities. Subgrantees may submit annual proposals, for MaineHousing’s 

44



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 38 of 47 

consideration, describing their planned activities and expenses associated with providing 
services to Applicants pursuant to Assurance 16 of the HEAP Act. 

 
F. Subgrantee’s Responsibilities. The responsibilities of the Subgrantee include, but are not 

limited to, the following and as further defined in the annual Subgrant Agreement: 
 

1. To conduct client outreach in a manner consistent with the HEAP Act and as 
prescribed in this Rule. 

 
2. To accept and verify Applications from Primary Applicants in a manner 

consistent with provisions of the HEAP Act and as prescribed in this Rule. 
 

3. To determine Household eligibility in a manner consistent with provisions of the 
HEAP Act and as prescribed in this Rule. 

 
4. To pay benefits, if required by MaineHousing, to or on behalf of Eligible 

Households in a manner consistent with provisions of the HEAP Act and as 
prescribed in this Rule. 

 
5. To provide documentation and assistance as needed for MaineHousing to 

conduct informal reviews and fair hearings. 
 

6. To pay Supplemental Benefits, if required by MaineHousing, if such benefits 
become available during the Program Year. 

 
7. To use MaineHousing database software and equipment. 

 
8. To address no-heat emergencies. 

 
9. To cost effectively administer and operate the Programs. 

 
10. To prioritize Eligible Households for HEAP Weatherization services in accordance with 

the HEAT Enterprise software. 
 

11. To coordinate services between Programs. 
 

12. To submit to MaineHousing production schedules for the Programs. 

13. To submit to MaineHousing work plans and budgets, monthly status reports and 
any other such reports or information required in connection with the Programs. 

 
14. To submit to MaineHousing billing information, including zero billings, for open 

contracts by 20th of each month. 
 

15. To use forms provided or approved by MaineHousing to administer the Programs. 
 

16. To protect personally identifiable information. 
 

17. At Applicant’s request, to make reasonable accommodations for a Person with a 
Disability. 

 
18. To ensure that procurement of materials and services is conducted in a manner to provide 

open and free competition and to avoid any appearance of impropriety, the Subgrantee 

45



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 39 of 47 

shall be bound by general federal procurement principles at 45 CFR §§ 75.327 to 75.335 
and property management principles at 45 CFR §§ 75.316 to 75.323.. 

 
G. Recordkeeping, Reporting and Accounting. Subgrantee shall comply with the following 

requirements: 
 

1. Subgrantee shall maintain comprehensive and accurate documentation, payroll reports, 
financial statements, and other records in connection with its administration of the 
Programs, including at a minimum, the amount and disposition of the Programs' funds 
received by the Subgrantee and the total cost necessary to administer the Programs. 
Subgrantee shall keep such records separate and identifiable from the records of 
Subgrantee’s other business and activities. MaineHousing and its representatives shall 
have the right to examine such records at reasonable times upon reasonable notice by 
MaineHousing. Subgrantee shall furnish copies of any such records requested by 
MaineHousing. All records must be retained by the Subgrantee for a minimum of three 
(3) years from the end of relevant contract period. In cases of litigation, other claims, 
audits, or other disputes the Subgrantee will retain all relevant records for at least one (1) 
year after the final disposition thereof. 

 
2. Subgrantee shall comply with all reporting requirements of MaineHousing. Subgrantee 

shall submit to MaineHousing an annual budget prior to each Program Year. Within 
ninety (90) calendar days after the close of the Subgrantee's fiscal year, Subgrantee shall 
furnish to MaineHousing an annual financial statement of Subgrantee, prepared by an 
independent certified public accountant in accordance with audit requirements at 45 
CFR Part 75, Subpart F. 

 
H. Funds for administrative expenses for the Program Year and supplemental funding received, if any, 

may be spent only between October 1 and the following September 30 of the applicable Program 
Year, unless otherwise authorized by MaineHousing. 

 
I. Noncompliance. 

 
1. MaineHousing shall have the right to terminate the Subgrantee Agreement in its sole 

discretion if it determines the Subgrantee has failed to perform one or more of its 
obligations to include malfeasance or misappropriation of funds. A written Notice of 
Termination of Subgrantee will set forth the specific violation. 

 
2. For non-compliance other than those which MaineHousing determines are subject to 

immediate termination, a deficiency notice will be sent to the Subgrantee in the event it 

fails to comply with any provision of this Rule, the Subgrantee Agreement, the Program 
Handbook, and the provisions of other applicable law. The Notice will set forth the 
specific violation and allow a reasonable time period for response by the Subgrantee. 
Upon review and consideration of any responses, MaineHousing will notify the 
Subgrantee in writing of any action to be taken and may establish a reasonable time period 
within which remedial action must be taken. Failure of Subgrantee to comply will result 
in a Notice of Termination of Subgrantee stating the cause and effective date of its 
termination. 

 
3. MaineHousing shall have the right to suspend in whole or in part the Subgrantee’s 

performance of one or more services provided under the Agreement whenever 
MaineHousing determines such suspension is in MaineHousing’s best interest. 

 

46



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 40 of 47 

4. MaineHousing may bar a Subgrantee’s participation in programs administered by 
MaineHousing for its malfeasance or misfeasance with respect to the administration or 
operation of any of the Programs. 

 
13. Indian Tribes. 

 
A. Direct Allocation to Indian Tribes. Indian Tribes may receive a direct allocation of HEAP funds 

from the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to the 
HEAP Act. The amount of the direct allocation is determined by MaineHousing. In its 
determination MaineHousing will consider the number of Eligible Households during the previous 
Program Year that include an Applicant who is a member of the Indian Tribe, when that 
information is available. 

 
B. Agreements with Indian Tribes. When an Indian Tribe receives a direct allocation of Fuel Assistance 

and ECIP, MaineHousing will enter into an agreement with the Indian Tribe that, at a minimum, 
provides for the coordination of services and administration of the Fuel Assistance and ECIP by 
Indian Tribe and Subgrantees to prevent duplication of services. 

 
14. Vendors. 

 
A. Vendor Eligibility. A vendor interested in becoming a Vendor must demonstrate the capacity and 

stability of its business to MaineHousing’s satisfaction. The vendor must supply a credit report and a 
business plan. The vendor must be in business for one year prior to becoming a Vendor. 

 
MaineHousing reserves the right to exclude a vendor for the following, not limited to: 

1. Any bankruptcies or judgments; 
 

2. Owners and/or officers of vendor were previously owner/officer of terminated Vendor; 
 

3. Failure to comply with Close-Out requirements. 
 

B. Enrollment. 
 

1. Open Enrollment for new vendors: vendors may enter into a Vendor Agreement during 
the time period as prescribed by MaineHousing. If the vendor does not submit accurate 
and complete documentation the vendor may not be allowed to participate in the current 
Program Year. 

 
2. Re-Enrollment for Vendors: Vendors who have a current Program Year contract may 

enroll as prescribed by MaineHousing. Continued participation is contingent upon 
performance and compliance with terms of Vendor Agreement. 

C. MaineHousing, at its discretion, may terminate any Vendor: 
 

1. That does not comply with the terms and conditions of the Vendor Agreement; 
 

2. That fails to provide documentation and cooperate with any audit/investigation and/or 
the return of unused Benefits as determined by any audit/investigation. In addition, 
MaineHousing may undertake any of the following: 

 
a. Bar the Vendor from future participation; 

 
b. Refer the case to State or federal officials for criminal prosecution or civil action; 

47



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 41 of 47 

and 
 

c. Pursue other remedies as determined by MaineHousing. 
 

D. Vendors must comply with State law concerning consumer home heating rights, which is described 
in Office of the Maine Attorney General Consumer Law Guide Chapter 19. 

 
E. Vendor may not consider an Eligible Household’s outstanding indebtedness to Vendor in 

calculating the Retail Cash Price applicable to a delivery of Home Energy to that Eligible 
Household. 

 
F. Return of Payments. 

 
1. In the event Vendor receives a Benefit Return form requesting the return of Benefits paid 

to Vendor on behalf of Eligible Households, Vendor shall return such Benefits to 
MaineHousing, or Subgrantee as allowed by MaineHousing, within fifteen (15) calendar 
days of date of Benefit Return form. 

 
2. In the event Vendor becomes aware of any of the events listed below affecting an 

Eligible Household, Vendor shall within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date that 
Vendor becomes aware of any such event, submit to MaineHousing a completed 
Benefit Return form and return any remaining Benefits paid to Vendor on behalf of the 
affected Eligible Household, unless the remaining Benefits are less than $25.   

 
Vendor may aggregate any remaining Benefits with a balance less than $25 and return 
the balance to MaineHousing when the Annual Consumption Report is submitted.  All 
related recordkeeping must clearly show all remaining benefit balances.   
 

a. The death of an individual who was the sole member of an Eligible Household; 
 

b. The institutionalization of an individual who was the sole member of an Eligible 
Household; 

 
c. Vendor's receipt of a written notice from an Eligible Household that it no 

longer desires to receive Home Energy deliveries from Vendor; 
 

d. An Eligible Household has not received deliveries of Home Energy for twelve 
(12) consecutive months; 

 
e. An Eligible Household has moved out of Vendor’s Service Area; 

 
f. An Eligible Household has moved out of State; 

g. Vendor has been paid an excessive Benefit on behalf of the Eligible Household. 
 

3. Vendor shall return to MaineHousing all unused Benefits in its possession or custody, 
whether directly or indirectly, within fifteen (15) calendar days of the termination of 
the Vendor Agreement. 

 
4. With respect to each return of Benefits, the Vendor agrees to provide in writing: the name 

and address of the Vendor; the name and address of the Eligible Household; the Eligible 
Household's account number; the Benefit amount being returned; and a concise 
explanation for the return of funds. In addition Vendor must include a detailed account 

48



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 42 of 47 

history showing delivery activity and payment activity from twelve (12) months prior to 
the date the Benefit was received by Vendor to the current date. Vendor must also 
provide any other information required by MaineHousing related thereto. 

 
5. Vendors may refund credit balances to Eligible Households only to the extent that such 

credit balances can be documented and demonstrated to be the Eligible Household’s 
funds and not Fuel Assistance funds. 

 
G. As part of the Annual Consumption Report process, Vendors must review Eligible Household 

accounts and identify any remaining Benefits that were issued in or prior to the preceding Program 
Year. All such unused Benefits must be returned to MaineHousing no later than June 30. 

 
H. Use of Benefits. 

 
1. Program benefits may not be sold, released or otherwise conveyed, with or without 

consideration, by the Eligible Household or the Vendor without written authorization 
from MaineHousing. MaineHousing will only authorize such conveyances when 
circumstances arise that prevent the Eligible Household from using the benefit and 
MaineHousing determines such conveyance is in the best interest of the Eligible 
Household and is consistent with the intent of the HEAP Act. 

 
2. Benefits cannot be used to pay Incidental Costs. 

 
3. Unless otherwise authorized by MaineHousing, the Vendor may only deliver the product 

stated on the Vendor Voucher Report, the Credit NotificationReportNotification 
Report , or the purchase order for wood or ECIP. 

 
4. Vendor may deliver the entire Benefit if the Household has placed an order (for 

partial Benefit) or if the Household is on automatic delivery unless: 
 

a. The Household advises the Vendor all Applicants are moving; 
 

b. The Household advises the Vendor that Household’s Heating System 
has mechanical difficulties; 

  

49



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 43 of 47 

 
c. The Household’s Home Energy storage tanks are either being replaced or do 

not meet code. 
 

I. If Vendor has delivered Home Energy to an Eligible Household on or after October 1st of the 
current Program Year and the Eligible Household or a private individual (such as a relative or a 
friend) has paid Vendor for the delivery or there is an outstanding balance for the delivery, Vendor 
may apply HEAP Benefit funds received for the account of the Eligible Household to that Home 
Energy delivery. After an amount of HEAP Benefit funds equal to the cost of the Home Energy 
delivery has been applied, the amount previously paid by the Eligible Household or the private 
individual must be credited to the Eligible Household’s account with Vendor. The funds credited 
to the Eligible Household’s account become the Eligible Household’s funds and are not HEAP 
Benefits. The use of these funds/credit balances is subject to the terms and conditions in place 
between the Vendor and its customer. 

 
Any deliveries paid by an organization, including but not limited to Citizen’s Energy, Keep ME 
Warm, churches, general assistance programs, and municipalities are not subject to this clause and 
cannot be covered with HEAP Benefits. 

 
J.I. In the case of electricity and natural gas Vendors, the Vendor may apply HEAP Benefit funds 

received for the account of the Eligible Household to past due charges for Home Energy deliveries 
to the Eligible Household, with the oldest charges being paid first. HEAP Benefits cannot be 
applied to Incidental Costs. 

 
K.J. Vendor Watch List. In the event MaineHousing determines, in its sole judgment based on Vendor’s 

actions or omissions or other information obtained by MaineHousing directly or from any third 
party, that such actions, omissions or other information raises issues concerning Vendor’s 
continued ability to make Home Energy deliveries or otherwise comply with the terms of the 
Vendor Agreement, or that Vendor’s performance is out of compliance with the requirements of 
the Vendor Agreement, MaineHousing may place, in its sole discretion, Vendor on a Watch List. 

 
L.K. Prohibited Discrimination. The Vendor is prohibited from discriminating against any Eligible 

Household regarding the extension of credit to purchase Home Energy or other services, the price 
of Home Energy or other services, or the terms or conditions of the delivery of Home Energy or 
other services solely on the basis of its being an Eligible Household. 

 
15. Errors and Program Abuse. 

 
A. Reports of Errors and Program Abuse: 

 
1. Subgrantees must report in writing to MaineHousing suspected Errors and Program 

Abuse related to Programs. 
 

2. Any individual may report to MaineHousing suspected Errors and Program Abuse 
related to Programs: 

a. By telephone at 1-800-452-4668 or (207) 626-4600 
 

b. In writing to MaineHousing, ATTN: LIHEAP Errors and Program Abuse, 
353 Water Street, Augusta, Maine 04333 

 
c. By e-mail to LIHEAPcompliance@mainehousing.org; 

 

50



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 44 of 47 

d. Or via MaineHousing’s website at 
 http://mainehousing.org/contact/info-request-form 

 
The report must include the name of the person being reported, their county of residence, and details 
of the suspected Errors and Program Abuse. 

 
B. MaineHousing will investigate all reported Errors and Program Abuse. If there is documented 

information to indicate Errors and Program Abuse, MaineHousing may notify the Applicant 
and provide them an opportunity to respond. Based on the response, MaineHousing will 
determine what, if any, appropriate action should be taken. 

 
C. Once Errors and Program Abuse is confirmed or if an Applicant fails to respond to inquiries 

regarding suspected Errors and Program Abuse, an Overpayment will be calculated and 
communicated to the Applicant. In addition to the Overpayment, the communication will 
include: 1) the facts surrounding the decision, 2) the reason for the decision, and 3) the manner 
by which the Applicant can request an appeal. MaineHousing will may investigate the previous 
three (3) Program Years from the Date of Discovery.  The Overpayment may include any or 
all of those three (3) years. 

 
D. When calculating an Overpayment MaineHousing will use the HEAP Handbook in effect for the 

applicable years the Overpayment occurred. 
 

E. An Applicant may request a fair hearing to dispute an Overpayment.  The Applicant must submit 
to MaineHousing a written request for a fair hearing no later than thirty (30) calendar days from the 
postmark date of the first notification from MaineHousing of suspected Errors and Program Abuse. 
All requests for fair hearing shall follow the Rule as set forth in Section 15. 

 
F. MaineHousing will pursue recouping of Overpayments by any and all of the following: 

 
1. Applicant may pay MaineHousing the full amount an Overpayment. 

 
2. Applicant may enter into a payment arrangement. Minimum monthly payment 

allowed will be set at $205.00 a month. 
 

3. Despite the existence of a repayment agreement, MaineHousing will recoup any current 
and future Benefits to offset against an Overpayment balance. MaineHousing will 
recoup 50% of a Household’s current Pprogram Yyear’s Bbenefit and 50% of a 
Household’s future pProgram Yyears’ Bbenefits until the Overpayment has been paid 
in full. 

 
4. MaineHousing will recoup Benefits on account with the Applicant’s Vendor to 

offset against an Overpayment balance. 
 

G. When Applicant fails to repay Overpayment, the case may be referred to other parties for 
additional action. 

 
H. MaineHousing may close an Overpayment for any of the following reasons: 

 
1. Overpayment has been paid in full. 

 
2. The overpayment is determined to be invalid based on a fair hearing decision or a court 

decision. 

51



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 45 of 47 

 
3. All adult persons(s) responsible for Overpayment are deceased. 

16. Appeal. 
 

A. The benefit notification shall: 
 

1. State the Benefit amount; 
 

2. State the date the Benefit was sent to the Vendor; 
 

3. State the approved Home Energy type; 
 

4. State the manner by which the Applicant can request an informal review, if applicable; 
 

5. State the manner by which the Applicant can request an appeal, if applicable. 

B. The denial notification shall: 
 

1. State the facts surrounding the decision; 
 

2. State the reason(s) for the decision; 
 

3. State the manner by which the Applicant can request an appeal, if applicable. 
 

C. The Applicant must submit a written appeal request for an informal review no later than: 
 

1. Thirty (30) calendar days from the postmarked date of the denial notification; 
 

2. Thirty (30) calendar days from the postmarked date of the benefit notification; 
 

3. Ninety (90) calendar days from the Date of Application, if the Application has not been 
approved or denied; or 

 
4. Ninety (90) calendar days from the postmarked date of the request for refund of 

an Overpayment. 
 

D. Written requests for appeal may be mailed to MaineHousing, 353 Water Street, Augusta, Maine 
04330; or emailed to LIHEAPcompliance@mainehousing.org . 

 
E. Informal Review. Informal reviews are intended to provide a minimum hearing requirement and 

need not be as elaborate as the fair hearing. An Applicant may request, in writing, an informal 
review for any dispute other than a dispute regarding TANF Supplemental Benefits. 

 
The informal review will be conducted by a person other than the one who made or approved the 
decision under review or a subordinate of this person. MaineHousing will review the file, conduct 
necessary research, and give the Applicant an opportunity to present written or oral objections to the 
decision under review. In rendering a decision MaineHousing will evaluate the accuracy of the 
calculations, the level of documentation provided by the Applicant, and the accuracy of the decision. 
MaineHousing will communicate the results of the research/review to the Applicant. 

 
F. Fair Hearing. 

 

52



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 46 of 47 

Pursuant to the HEAP Act, 42 USC §8624(b)(13), MaineHousing will provide an Applicant an 
opportunity for a fair administrative hearing if the Applicant’s claim for assistance has been 
denied or not acted upon with reasonable promptness. MaineHousing will also provide an 
Applicant an opportunity for a fair administrative hearing if the Applicant disputes the amount 
of their Bbenefit or if the Applicant is required to refund an Overpayment. 

 
1. Fair hearings shall be conducted in accordance with the Maine Administrative 

Procedures Act, Title 5, Chapter 375 by the Director of MaineHousing (or his/her 
designee) or such other contractor selected by MaineHousing. The parties may 
receive a transcript of the hearing upon payment of the reasonable cost for the 
production thereof. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of the hearing's conclusion the hearing officer will 

prepare a recommended hearing decision. Copies of the recommended decision will 
be provided to the appellant. 

 
3. A final decision and order will be made by the Director of MaineHousing in writing 

within sixty (60) calendar days of receipt of the hearing officer's recommendation. In the 
event the Director of MaineHousing presides over a hearing, she/he shall render his/her 
decision and order within sixty (60) calendar days of the hearing's conclusion or sixty 
(60) calendar days of the recommended decision. The Director's decision and order shall 
include findings of fact sufficient to apprise the parties of its basis. A copy of the 
decision and order will be provided promptly to each party to the proceeding or his 
representative of record. Written notice of the party's right to appeal the decision and 
other relevant information will be provided to the parties at the time of the decision and 
order. The decision and order will be implemented by the Subgrantee no later than ten 
(10) calendar days after receipt if it is in the Appellant’s favor and otherwise forty-five 
(45) calendar days unless stayed on appeal. 

 
G. TANF Supplemental Benefits are not subject to appeal. 

 
17. Additional Provisions. 

 
A. Other Laws. If this Rule conflicts with any provision of applicable federal or State law, 

including without limitation the Act and the HEAP Act, such federal or State law shall 
control. 

 
B. Additional Requirements. This Rule does not preclude such additional or alternative 

requirements as may be necessary to comply with the Act and the HEAP Act. 
 

C. Pool of Eligible Households. This Rule establishes a pool of eligible applicants but does not 
preclude additional reasonable criteria and does not confer any automatic right or entitlement 
on any person or entity eligible hereunder. 

 
D. Availability of Funds. Assistance provided pursuant to this Rule is conditioned on the 

availability of HEAP funds. 
 

E. Waivers. Upon determination for good cause, the Director of MaineHousing, or the Director's 
designee, may, subject to statutory limitations, waive any provision of this Rule. Each waiver shall 
be in writing and shall be supported by documentation of the pertinent facts and grounds for the 
waiver. 

 
F. Final Action. The Director of MaineHousing, individually or by exercise of the delegation 

53



 

Chapter 24 – Home Energy Assistance Program  

Page 47 of 47 

powers contained in the Act, shall make all decisions and take all action necessary to implement 
this Rule. Such action of the Director shall constitute final agency action. 

 
BASIS STATEMENT:  This replacement rule repeals and replaces in its entirety the current Home Energy Assistance 
Program Rule.  The rule establishes standards for administering fuel assistance, emergency fuel assistance, TANF 
Supplemental Benefits, weatherization, and heating system repair and replacement funds to low-income households in the 
State of Maine.  This replacement rule: amends the definitions of “Dwelling Unit”, “Live-in Care Attendant”, and “Priority 
Applicant”; allows expired government-issued photo identification cards to be accepted as documentation for a Primary 
Applicant; expands Dwelling Unit eligibility; modifies the amount of a Household’s HEAP Benefit that can be recuperated 
to address Overpayments; establishes the Benefit amount available for eligible Households that have no calculated energy 
costs; expands allowable costs for Energy Crisis Intervention Program funds; removes the requirement that all Central 
Heating Improvement Program jobs over $1,000 have a final inspection; allows Subgrantees to charge support costs 
associated with taking and processing HEAP Applications to Administrative dollars; removes the option to have HEAP 
Benefits retroactively applied to Home Energy deliveries that have already been paid; adjusts the minimum monthly 
payment amount for Households entering into a repayment agreement for an Overpayment; and clarifies that HEAP 
Applicants will be provided an opportunity for a fair administrative hearing if they dispute the amount of their HEAP 
Benefit. is needed to implement a heat pump installation initiative in response to P.L. 2019, ch. 306, § 3., “An Act To 
Transform Maine’s Heat Pump Market To Advance Economic Security and Climate Objectives.”  Other changes correct 
errors or provide clarification to the previous version of the rule.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Process: 
 
 
Summary of Comments and Responses to Comments: 
 
 
STATUTORY AUTHORITY:  30-A M.R.S.A. §§4722(1)(W), 4741(1) and (15), and 4991 et seq.; 42 U.S.C.A. §§8621, et 
seq. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT NOTE:  The replacement HEAP Rule will not impose any cost on municipalities or counties for 
implementation or compliance. 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE:   

54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



 
 
 Asset Management Department Memorandum 
 

 
To: MaineHousing Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Robert Conroy – Director, Asset Management   
 
Date: April 14, 2020 
 
Subject: April Board Report - Asset Management 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Multifamily Program Action Plan 
MaineHousing Asset Management is making the following temporary modifications to its Program 
requirements to assist Owners and Managers of Multifamily and Supportive Housing 
properties to best manage the daily operating challenges created by COVID-19.  
These modifications apply only to MaineHousing-financed properties. 
Therefore, effectively immediately and until further notice: 
 
1. Owners are eligible to take their ‘FY 19 Distributable Surplus Cash as stated on 
Sch.5 of the ‘FY 19 Audited Financial Statements (AFS) immediately and ahead of the 
completed MaineHousing review of the AFS for the purpose of funding project 
needs. 
MaineHousing will proceed with the review process and issue AFS letters in the 
coming weeks. This analysis may result in adjustments to the surplus cash calculation. 
Projects not financed by MaineHousing, Section 8 Projects with HUD Residual 
Receipts Accounts or projects subject to surplus cash approved by HUD or Rural 
Development are not subject to this early release provision. 
 
2. Temporary Forbearance of Replacement Reserve Funding, if necessary. 
 
3. Loans/Releases from Project Reserves to cover Operating shortfalls, subject to 
adequate reserve balances and Partnership approval, if applicable. 
 
4. Temporary halt to Report Submissions except Annual LIHTC Reporting. 
 
5. Temporary halt on Inspections (excluding emergencies or required move-in 
inspections). 
 
6. Temporary halt on Management audits in the field. 
Desk reviews may continue where feasible. 
 
7. The LIHTC Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP) includes a category granting 1 (one) 
scoring point when a prior year deficit is funded by the Developer in a project within 
its initial 15 tear compliance period. This category will be waived for the upcoming 
QAP scoring round. 

133



 
 
 Communications & Planning Department Memorandum 
 

 
To: Board of Commissioners  
 
From: Denise Lord 
 
Date: April 13, 2020 
 
Subject: April Board Report 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
MaineHousing in the News 
While we had other public announcements planned this month, our attention turned to all things 
COVID-19.  We have responded to requests for information about our role in various housing 
initiatives, developed a COVID page on our mainehousing.org homepage as well as a resource page 
for shelters on mainehomelessplanning.org, and FAQs to help with responding to callers asking for 
assistance.  The crowning achievement was Dan’s editorial calling for no foreclosures, no evictions. 
https://www.pressherald.com/2020/03/27/mainehousing-director-no-one-should-lose-their-home-
because-of-covid-19/ 
 
COVID-19 Homeless Response 

 MaineHousing developed a grant program for funding of additional expenses related to 
COVID-19 for homeless providers.   The program will provide funds to shelters for staffing, 
supplies and hotel and motel rooms.  
 http://www.mainehomelessplanning.org/documents/2020/03/2020-covid-19-homeless-
provider-grants-application.pdf/ 

 Resources for shelters:  This link will take you to the COVID-19 webpage that also contains 
the newest guidance from CDC and HUD as it is released. 
https://www.mainehomelessplanning.org/covid-19/ 

 We have been working with several sites to open ‘Wellness Shelters that allow for the 
recommended physical distancing of guests.  The USM Sullivan Gym opened in Portland 
last week, Presque Isle opened last week on the UMPI campus.  We are also working with 
Bangor, Lewiston and other communities on achieving social distancing.   

 We issued a RFP for lodging and will begin working with hotels and motels to secure 
housing for homeless persons and persons living in congregate housing such as group 
homes who have tested positive or are waiting for test results.  We continue to look for 
more options – especially in the rural areas. 

 The Governor’s Executive Order regarding General Assistance allows for housing in hotels 
and motels.  Many shelters are finding this an effective emergency housing solution. 

 
CPD staff have been busily working to support various agency functions and MaineHousing 
partners during COVID-19 times. Our staff was part of the internal team that brought 
MaineHousing staff up and running remotely, and helped ensure that internal communications with 
staff were transparent and clear. We did the same for MaineHousing’s partner communications, 

134



 

including assisting departments with their initial partner communications about our COVID-19 
response, and coordinating public facing information about our work during the pandemic.  
Additionally we assisted in the development and roll out of the new rental relief program. 
 
Building 
We finalized the interior signage design for the building and the graphic for the Moxie Café wall.  
The exterior signage is scheduled for installation next week. 
 
Strategic Plan Implementation/Innovation  
We issued an RFP for consultant assistance in drafting an application for the next round of Capital 
Magnet Funds.  Proposals are due May 1, 2020. 
 
We are moving forward with funding for five Recovery Residences this month.  We had hoped to 
have all 15 recovery residences ready at the same time, but the pandemic has delayed many.    We are 
assisting the state’s participation in the national litigation against opioid manufacturers and 
distributors.  We have asked to determine how much the MaineHousing has spent on opioid 
response since Jan. 1, 2007. 
 
We have awarded the following Community Aging In Place Grants: 

Augusta          50,000.00   
Bath        108,817.00   
Downeast          50,000.00   
EMDIHA          50,000.00   
Fort Fairfield          75,000.00   
Lewiston        100,000.00   
Old Town          50,000.00   
Western ME          50,000.00   

TOTALS        533,817.00   
 
Learning and Development 
Our learning and development program has also pivoted to entirely online learning.  The acquisition 
of the Learning platform will allow us to deliver training and professional development to a largely 
telecommuting staff.  Our first two classes will be available April 16th.  
 
Policy and Research Update 
Our researchers are taking this opportunity to develop dashboards for each department, beginning 
with Homeownership.   
 
Partner Meetings 

 We talk every day with DHHS about supporting homeless shelters and assisting them in 
developing evidence based approaches to managing COVID-19; we participate in CDC and 
MEMA discussions; and we are providing extensive outreach to the shelters 

 
I would like to end by thanking my team and colleagues who have been incredibly positive during 
these difficult times.  To a person, they have taken on new assignments, new responsibilities, 
adopted different ways of working and communicating, and demonstrated a can do approach to 
finding housing solutions especially for those most in need.   

135



 
 
 Development Department Memorandum 
 

 
To: MaineHousing Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Mark C. Wiesendanger, Director of Development 
 
Date: April 21, 2020 
 
Subject: Monthly Report 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2020 Qualified Allocation Plan (9% LIHTC) 
 
Included in this month’s Board packet is the draft 2021-2022 Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP).  This draft is 
the result of input from MaineHousing staff, the Board, developers, and other interested parties received 
since the 2020 QAP was published, and from previously held QAP discussions.  There could potentially be 
additional changes that arise from conversations over the coming weeks, although we anticipate nothing 
substantive.  We have shared a copy of the QAP in draft form, as a courtesy “heads up” to developers, and 
received their feedback in three meetings.  We continue to focus on limiting costs and procuring additional 
outside funding, while allowing for clearer and smoother processing for our developer partners. 
 
Proposed changes for the 2021-2022 QAP: 

 
Throughout 

 2 year QAP 
 Updated deadlines, accelerated in 2022. 
 Removed unnecessary and redundant language. 
 Repaired grammatical errors (e.g. capitalization, punctuation, wrong tense, awkward wording, 

passive voice, etc.) 
 Provided updated links for reference materials. 

 
Cover Page Newly redesigned Cover Page 
 
Section 2: Simplified and reworded the housing priorities to match the language in the new Maine 

Consolidated Plan 
 
Section 4A: Pre-apps due July 9, 2020.  Moved to June in 2021 
 
Section 4B: Applications due September 24.  Moved to August in 2021. 
 
Section 5C: TDC Index Caps. Adaptive Reuse increased to $270K.  New Construction increased to 

$255K.  Acquisition/Rehab increased to $165K.  Caps are increased and additional 3% for 
projects receiving Passive House certification. 

 

136



 

Section 5I: Market Studies.   No longer required to be dated before the application deadline.  However, 
a current market study will be required before award. 

 
Section 5J: Recreational Activities.  Removed the “Safe Walking Distance” requirement.  Now activities 

locations must be within half a mile by any common means of travel.  
 
Section 6L: Housing Need. Updated to reflect changing demographics. Those municipalities that have 

fallen off will be allowed one additional year to claim points. 
 
Section 6M: Tax Credit/Market Rent Differential points removed. The category favored more urban 

projects. 
 
Section 6N: Smart Growth.  Proximities to Activities of Daily Living. “Safe Walking Distance” 

requirement removed.  2 pts. for healthcare-specific services removed and added to total. 
 
Section 6O. High Opportunity Areas.  Updated to reflect new data regarding access to education, 

economic growth/jobs, income levels, access to health care, access to transportation. Those 
municipalities that have fallen off will be allowed one additional year to claim the points. 

 
Section 6Q. Owner Performance.  Operating Deficit scoring will not be included this year. A deficit will 

not be required to be funded this year.   
 
Section 6S. Management Performance.  Changed the way the points were awarded.  They are now based 

off Asset Management’s physical plant inspection, project report submission and MOR 
scores.   

 
Section 6U. Review Process.  Developers will be notified of their score, given a week to agree or disagree 

with it, then MSHA makes a final determination and ranks scores. 
 
Section 7F: Market Study.  Will still be required, just not at application deadline. 
 
Section 9F: Developer Fee limits.  Removed language about Developers applying for interest-bearing 

debt and credit only.    
 
Section 10D: We will give no more than 15 days’ notice for inspections as required by the IRS. 
 
Section 10E: We will give no more than 15 days’ notice for inspections as required by the IRS. 
 
Definitions: Above Average clarified.  Activities Important to Daily Living clarified. 
 
 

137



 
 Energy & Housing Services Department Memorandum 
 
 

To: MaineHousing Board of Commissioners 
 

From: Daniel Drost, Director of Energy and Housing Services 
 

Date: April 15, 2020 
 

Subject: EHS Monthly Report – April 2020 
 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

   
HOME ENERGY ASSISTANCT PROGRAM (HEAP) 

 PRODUCTION STATISTICS THROUGH APRIL 10, 2020 (Week 31) 
 

Number of Applications 
PY 2020  

(4/10/2020 ) 
PY 2019  

(3/28/2019 ) 
% change 

Applications Taken  43,960 45,598 -3.6% 
Confirmed Eligible/Paid  33,303 33,659 -1.1% 
Pending (in process) 6,103 3,305 +84.7% 
Other (ineligible, denied, void, etc.) 4,554 8,634 -47.3% 

 
Home Energy Assistance Program: 
Post-delivery payment model: During the PY2020 HEAP Stakeholder Meeting and Rule Making 
process, there was preliminary discussion regarding moving towards a post-delivery payment model 
for oil, kerosene and propane HEAP Vendors. On March 26, 2020, MaineHousing- Energy and 
Housing Services Department (EHS) convened a HEAP post-delivery payment working group 
meeting that was held via a conference call. The working group meeting provided a group of 
participating oil, kerosene and propane HEAP Vendors the opportunity to further explore the 
transition to a post-delivery payment model. Representatives from EHS and six HEAP Vendors 
participated in the meeting. Participants raised great questions and provided thoughtful input 
regarding points that should be considered when developing this expanded payment model. Input 
from the working group meeting will be utilized by EHS as next steps are taken to develop and pilot 
a post-delivery payment model. 
 
COVID 19 Funding for HEAP: Towards the end of March 2020, in response to the COVID 19 
pandemic, Congress approved $900 million for HEAP, “... to prevent, prepare for, or respond to 
coronavirus…”. It is anticipated that these funds will be allocated by the standard formula used by 
U.S. DHHS for regular HEAP allocations to Grantees. Early indications are that the funding will be 
treated just like regular PY2020 HEAP funding with the same requirements and program allocation 
restrictions. There is no information available at this time regarding when and exactly how much will 
be allocated to Maine, including Maine’s Native American Tribal Organizations from the COVID 19 
HEAP funding. Rough estimates are between $8 million and $9 million. This additional funding will 
support the forecasted increase in households that apply for and are eligible for HEAP due to the 
negative financial impact of COVID 19.  
 
 
 

138



 

DOE Weatherization: 
The current COVID-19 pandemic is having an impact on delivery of MaineHousing’s 
Weatherization Program.  MaineHousing contacted our subgrantees at the end of March to discuss 
guidance received from the Department of Energy (DOE). MaineHousing responded to DOE’s 
guidance by making temporary modifications to our current billing and payment process. 
 
MaineHousing has advised our subgrantees to follow their established Disaster Recovery/Business 
Continuity Plans. Some subgrantees have elected to suspend all services while others are conducting 
inspections on a case-by-case basis. 
 
Federal Lead Hazard Reduction Grant Program: 
MaineHousing selected three community action agencies; Aroostook Community Action Program 
(ACAP), Community Concepts, Inc. (CCI), and Penquis Community Action Program (PCAP) to 
administer our three year HUD-funded Lead Hazard Reduction Grant Program (LHR).  Contracts 
and updated guides were mailed to the respective agencies last week. 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  

139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



 
 
 Finance Department Memorandum 
 

 
To: Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Darren Brown 
 
Date: April 6, 2020 
 
Subject: Monthly Delinquencies Report 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
MULTI-FAMILY DELINQUENCIES 
 
The Multi-Family portfolio totals $636 million with 1,085 loans as of March 31, 2020.  There are no 
delinquent loans, as shown in Exhibit 1. The delinquency rate is 0.00%. The Multi-Family 
delinquency rate is benchmarked against MaineHousing’s historical rates, as shown in Exhibit 2.   
 
HOME IMPROVEMENT DELINQUENCIES 
 
The Home Improvement portfolio has 53 loans totaling $126,415 as of March 31, 2020.  The over 
60-day delinquency rate is 2.89% and represents two loans in the amount of $3,658. Delinquency 
rates for each participating lender are shown in Exhibit 3.  Historical rates for the Home 
Improvement portfolio are shown in Exhibit 4. 
 
SINGLE-FAMILY DELINQUENCIES 
 
The Single-Family portfolio totals $983 million with 10,998 loans as of February 29, 2020.  The over 
60-day delinquencies increased from 2.31% to 2.35% and the in-foreclosures decreased from 0.87% 
to 0.86%.  The over 60-day delinquencies amount to $23 million, with approximately $8.5 million 
representing accounts in foreclosure.  The over 60-day and in-foreclosure historic rates are shown in 
Exhibit 6.  MaineHousing’s overall delinquency rate by loan dollars is 2.35%; and the overall 
delinquency rate by loan count is 2.70%.  As reflected in Exhibit 7, the overall delinquency rate and 
the in-foreclosure rate by loan count are below the rates for all Maine loans.  
 
Servicer Delinquencies – As of February 29, 2020, Salem Five has the highest overall delinquency 
rate of 12.07%, with an in-foreclosure rate of 0.00%. The relatively small size of their portfolio is the 
primary reason for the higher delinquency rate. Delinquencies for our largest servicer, Mortgage 
Servicing Solutions, decreased from 2.59% to 2.56%, while the in-foreclosure rate increased from 
0.84% to 0.90%. Camden National Bank has the lowest rate of delinquencies at 1.00%. Delinquency 
rates for each servicer are shown in Exhibit 5. 
 
Delinquencies by Insurance Type – In February 2020, FHA insured loans has the highest 
delinquency rate by total insurance type of 3.21%, with in-foreclosures at 1.23%.  When compared 
to the total loan portfolio, RD insured loans has the highest delinquency rate of 1.38%, with in-

150



 

foreclosures at 0.49%.  Delinquencies by insurance type and the portfolio as a whole are shown in 
Exhibit 8.   
 
FHA insured loans comprise 17% of the Single-Family portfolio and 23% of delinquencies, while 
RD insured loans comprise 58% of the portfolio and represent 59% of all delinquent loans.  The 
current composition of the Single-Family portfolio by insurance type, along with the percentage of 
delinquencies by insurance type, is shown in Exhibit 9. 
 
Foreclosure Prevention Activities – Exhibit 10 summarizes our foreclosure prevention activities, 
as well as the number of completed foreclosures. As of February 2020, we have assisted 191 
borrowers with various foreclosure prevention options. The volume of borrowers needing assistance 
has decreased significantly in 2019 due to historically low delinquency rates and concerted efforts to 
offer foreclosure prevention options in the early stages of delinquency.  
 

151



Multi-Family Delinquent Loans

Exhibit 1

Section 8 ORIGINATION ----------------- DELINQUENT ----------------
BORROWER LEVEL PMT PTD LOCATION PROJECT OWNER DATE 1 MONTH 2 MONTHS 3+ MONTHS

NONE 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00

Rental Housing ORIGINATION ----------------- DELINQUENT ----------------
BORROWER LEVEL PMT PTD LOCATION PROJECT OWNER DATE 1 MONTH 2 MONTHS 3+ MONTHS

NONE 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00

Supportive Housing & Other ORIGINATION ----------------- DELINQUENT ----------------
BORROWER LEVEL PMT PTD LOCATION PROJECT OWNER DATE 1 MONTH 2 MONTHS 3+ MONTHS

NONE 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

Grand Total  
% of Portfolio Delq 60+ days 0.00%
Total Number of Loans 1,085

MAINE STATE HOUSING AUTHORITY
MULTI-FAMILY DELINQUENCIES

3/31/2020

152



Multi-Family Delinquency & Foreclosure Trends

Exhibit 2

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

3.50%

Dec-11 Dec-12 Dec-13 Dec-14 Dec-15 Dec-16 Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19

MULTI-FAMILY DELINQUENCY AND FORECLOSURE RATES

1 MONTH 2+ MONTHS FORECLOSURES

OUTSTANDING
PRINCIPAL DOLLARS RATE DOLLARS RATE DOLLARS RATE

Mar-20 635,827,866$      -$                0.00% -$                0.00% -$                0.00%
Dec-19 635,961,774$      4,379,009$      0.69% 1,620,600$      0.25% -$                0.00%
Dec-18 630,936,475$      1,473,376$      0.23% 20,600$          0.00% -$                0.00%
Dec-17 608,939,257$      319,836$         0.05% 60,624$          0.01% -$                0.00%
Dec-16 579,916,852$      -$                0.00% -$                0.00% -$                0.00%
Dec-15 573,932,384$      -$                0.00% 185,320$         0.03% -$                0.00%
Dec-14 513,937,525$      77,568$          0.02% 1,169,620$      0.23% -$                0.00%
Dec-13 506,871,177$      896,386$         0.18% 297,366$         0.06% 1,166,866$      0.23%
Dec-12 487,638,082$      15,815,491$    3.24% 8,056,115$      1.65% -$                0.00%
Dec-11 486,421,972$      5,436,378$      1.12% 5,875,983$      1.21% -$                0.00%

1 MONTH 2+ MONTHS FORECLOSURES

153



Home Improvement Delinquent Loans

Exhibit 3

% of Portfolio OUTSTANDING ----------------- DELINQUENT ----------------
LENDER Delq 60+ Days PRINCIPAL 1 MONTH 2 MONTHS 3+ MONTHS

ACAP 0.00% 4,631.02 0.00 0.00 0.00
CCI 0.00% 19,214.27 0.00 0.00 0.00
CED 0.00% 966.87 0.00 0.00 0.00
KVCAP 47.30% 5,699.59 0.00 2,695.81 0.00
PCAP 0.00% 6,388.02 0.00 0.00 0.00
WCCSA 0.00% 3,957.97 0.00 0.00 0.00
WHCAP 100.00% 962.53 0.00 0.00 962.53
YCCAC 0.00% 474.32 0.00 0.00 0.00
BATH SAVINGS 0.00% 24,659.16 0.00 0.00 0.00
CAMDEN NATIONAL 0.00% 17,491.65 0.00 0.00 0.00
KENNEBUNK SAVINGS 0.00% 8,801.65 8,508.49 0.00 0.00
NORTHEAST BANK 0.00% 7,906.30 0.00 0.00 0.00
NORWAY SAVINGS 0.00% 6,118.12 0.00 0.00 0.00
SKOWHEGAN SAVINGS 0.00% 14,933.75 0.00 0.00 0.00
THE FIRST 0.00% 4,209.55 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL 2.89% 126,414.77 8,508.49 2,695.81 962.53

Total Number of Loans 53

3/31/2020

Maine State Housing Authority
Home Improvement Delinquencies by Lender

154



Home Improvement Delinquency & Foreclosure Trends

Exhibit 4

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

Dec-11 Dec-12 Dec-13 Dec-14 Dec-15 Dec-16 Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19

HOME IMPROVEMENT DELINQUENCY AND FORECLOSURE RATES

1 MONTH 2+ MONTHS FORECLOSURES

OUTSTANDING
PRINCIPAL DOLLARS RATE DOLLARS RATE DOLLARS RATE

Mar-20 126,415$              8,508$            6.73% 3,658$            2.89% -$                0.00%
Dec-19 156,955$              7,089$            4.52% 15,363$          9.79% -$                0.00%
Dec-18 301,364$              3,941$            1.31% 84,317$          27.98% -$                0.00%
Dec-17 515,603$              20,749$          4.02% 153,526$         29.78% -$                0.00%
Dec-16 795,184$              7,930$            1.00% 236,299$         29.72% -$                0.00%
Dec-15 1,062,015$            20,041$          1.89% 240,688$         22.66% 5,160$            0.49%
Dec-14 1,412,221$            15,722$          1.11% 254,707$         18.04% 32,897$          2.33%
Dec-13 2,066,062$            38,101$          1.84% 364,218$         17.63% 84,283$          4.08%
Dec-12 2,803,309$            79,925$          2.85% 529,227$         18.88% 38,727$          1.38%
Dec-11 3,766,637$            102,824$         2.73% 576,053$         15.29% -$                0.00%

1 MONTH 2+ MONTHS FORECLOSURES

155



Single-Family Delinquent Loans

Exhibit 5

% OF % of Portfolio OUTSTANDING ----------------- DELINQUENT ---------------- IN- 
SERVICER PORTFOLIO Delq 60 + days PRINCIPAL 1 MONTH 2 MONTHS 3+ MONTHS FORECLOSURE

MORTGAGE SERVICING SOLUTIONS 67.70% 2.56% 665,526,625.52 26,520,072.65 6,887,730.99 4,198,715.91 5,957,693.41
BANGOR SAVINGS BANK 16.30% 1.43% 160,257,179.69 3,397,056.31 949,275.96 377,259.94 973,061.87
CAMDEN NATIONAL BANK UK 9.07% 1.00% 89,127,468.40 2,340,865.34 348,026.59 250,146.28 292,373.29
MACHIAS SAVINGS BANK 5.78% 3.30% 56,842,199.98 1,583,263.77 592,287.27 434,479.60 851,050.37
BANK OF AMERICA NA 1.07% 8.55% 10,562,350.56 460,941.40 104,342.36 372,234.20 426,618.18
SALEM FIVE MORTGAGE CORP 0.08% 12.07% 809,380.75 0.00 0.00 97,707.09 0.00

TOTAL 100.00% 2.35% 983,125,204.90 34,302,199.47 8,881,663.17 5,730,543.02 8,500,797.12

Maine State Housing Authority
Single-Family Delinquencies by Servicer

2/29/2020

156



Single-Family Delinquency & Foreclosure Trends

Exhibit 6

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

Dec-11 Dec-12 Dec-13 Dec-14 Dec-15 Dec-16 Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19

SINGLE-FAMILY DELINQUENCY AND FORECLOSURE RATES

1 MONTH 2+ MONTHS IN-FORECLOSURE ACTUAL FORECLOSURES

OUTSTANDING
PRINCIPAL DOLLARS RATE DOLLARS RATE DOLLARS RATE DOLLARS RATE

Feb-20 983,125,205$        34,302,199$    3.49% 23,113,003$    2.35% 8,500,797$      0.86% 366,785$            0.04%
Dec-19 967,171,381$        45,399,415$    4.69% 23,774,547$    2.46% 8,037,512$      0.83% 6,357,994$         0.66%
Dec-18 916,608,577$        40,526,473$    4.42% 28,155,105$    3.07% 11,647,401$    1.27% 4,056,247$         0.44%
Dec-17 844,497,676$        48,457,930$    5.74% 31,454,643$    3.72% 12,099,518$    1.43% 7,847,858$         0.93%
Dec-16 799,557,471$        41,780,468$    5.23% 42,682,410$    5.34% 13,625,991$    1.70% 21,142,137$       2.64%
Dec-15 790,409,905$        44,303,365$    5.61% 64,656,769$    8.18% 31,066,182$    3.93% 20,797,314$       2.43%
Dec-14 810,139,060$        55,171,703$    6.81% 84,385,397$    10.42% 46,711,687$    5.77% 13,904,155$       1.72%
Dec-13 849,385,825$        60,378,599$    7.11% 91,501,809$    10.77% 49,783,071$    5.86% 12,980,502$       1.53%
Dec-12 899,788,247$        72,815,090$    8.09% 100,738,963$  11.20% 28,237,109$    3.14% 4,987,749$         0.55%
Dec-11 980,359,797$        75,979,115$    7.75% 90,934,130$    9.28% 31,846,771$    3.25% 9,975,164$         1.02%

1 MONTH 2+ MONTHS IN-FORECLOSURE ACTUAL FORECLOSURES

157



Single-Family Delinquency Comparison Trends

Exhibit 7

*This information is obtained from MBA’s National Delinquency Survey for the fourth quarter of 2019.
**MaineHousing’s overall delinquency rate based on loan dollars is 2.35%, whereas rates in this exhibit are based on loan count.

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

Dec-11 Dec-12 Dec-13 Dec-14 Dec-15 Dec-16 Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19

MAINEHOUSING, FHA, ALL STATE & ALL NEW ENGLAND
DELINQUENCY RATE COMPARISON

All Maine FHA in Maine All New England MaineHousing

 

Loan Count 2 Months 3+ Months In-Foreclosure Totals

All State* 115,054 0.79% 1.13% 1.77% 3.69%
FHA for State* 18,779 1.44% 1.57% 2.20% 5.21%
All New England* 1,614,244 0.80% 1.08% 0.99% 2.87%
MaineHousing** 10,998 1.09% 0.69% 0.92% 2.70%

MAINEHOUSING LOAN COUNT COMPARISON

158



Single-Family Delinquencies by Mortgage Insurer

Exhibit 8

TYPE 2+ MONTHS IN-FORECLOSURE TYPE 2+ MONTHS IN-FORECLOSURE
FHA 3.21% 1.23% RD 1.38% 0.49%
SELF Insured 2.84% 0.88% FHA 0.55% 0.21%
RD 2.39% 0.84% All Uninsured (including SELF) 0.28% 0.09%
VA 1.87% 1.27% SELF Insured 0.14% 0.04%
All Uninsured (including SELF) 1.64% 0.51% Uninsured (excluding SELF) 0.14% 0.04%
PMI 1.54% 0.54% VA 0.09% 0.06%
Uninsured (excluding SELF) 1.15% 0.37% PMI 0.05% 0.02%

2/29/2020
As A Percent of Total Insurance Type As A Percent of Total Loan Portfolio

2/29/2020

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

3.50%

FHA SELF Insured RD VA All Uninsured
(including

SELF)

PMI Uninsured
(excluding

SELF)

SINGLE-FAMILY DELINQUENCY RATES BY INSURER TYPE

2+ MONTHS IN-FORECLOSURE

159



Single-Family Delinquencies by Mortgage Insurer

Exhibit 9

The following charts show the composition of MaineHousing loans by mortgage insurer. Self insured loans are mainly 
mobile homes. Uninsured loans are those not needing mortgage insurance (i.e. for loans under 80% property value).  

The following charts are in dollar amounts.

FHA
17%

VA
5%

RD
58%

SELF
5%

UNINS
12%

PMI
3%

Single-Family Portfolio by Insurer 
2/29/2020

FHA
23%

VA
4%

RD
59%

SELF
6%

UNINS
6%

PMI
2%

Single-Family Delinquencies by Insurer
2/29/2020

160



Single-Family Foreclosure Prevention Activities

Exhibit 10

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

BORROWERS ASSISTED 2006-2020

Info rma l Paymen t Plan Formal Payment Plan Specia l Forbearance Loan Modification Pre-Foreclosure Sale/Short Sale FHA Partia l Claims FHA-HAMP Maine HOPE MaineHousing
HAMP

Number of Borrowers Approved for Assistance Actual Foreclosures

Informal 
Payment 

Plan

Formal 
Payment 

Plan
Special 

Forbearance
Loan 

Modification

Pre-
Foreclosure 
Sale/Short 

Sale
FHA Partial 

Claims FHA-HAMP Maine HOPE
MaineHousing

HAMP
Total

Workouts
Number of 

Foreclosures

Number of 
Loans in 
Portfolio

Percentage 
of Portfolio

Feb-20 181 1 1 3 1 3 0 1 191 Feb-20 6 10,998 0.05%
Dec-19 914 3 12 32 4 10 8 0 983 Dec-19 86 10,904 0.79%
Dec-18 1361 4 12 39 8 15 3 6 1448 Dec-18 57 10,673 0.53%
Dec-17 1437 8 4 31 14 14 8 7 1523 Dec-17 97 10,332 0.94%
Dec-16 1259 6 8 19 15 10 16 9 1342 Dec-16 258 10,097 2.56%
Dec-15 1397 8 11 26 40 21 22 10 1535 Dec-15 233 10,258 2.27%
Dec-14 1388 12 13 38 44 38 48 24 1605 Dec-14 162 10,526 1.54%
Dec-13 1424 4 5 24 73 46 1576 Dec-13 146 10,952 1.33%
Dec-12 952 9 9 9 56 47 1082 Dec-12 60 11,571 0.52%
Dec-11 505 42 43 25 43 2 71 731 Dec-11 115 12,311 0.93%

161



 
 
 Homeless Initiatives Department Memorandum 
 

 
To: Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Laurie Murray, Director of Homeless Initiatives 
 
Date: April 13, 2020 
 
Subject: Homeless Initiatives Report 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
The Homeless Initiatives team has been working with our shelters and other homeless providers to 
provide assistance and resources for the COVID-19 pandemic.  Below is a summary of the activities 
and initiatives we have completed or are in process to address concerns surrounding COVID-19 for 
the homeless community: 
 

 We established a separate web page on our Mainehomelessplanning website to serve as a 
clearinghouse and resource for information related to COVID-19. This page is updated 
throughout each day to ensure information is current and promptly available to shelters and 
other homeless providers. It also provides a question and answer section so that we can 
provide quick and consistent responses to inquiries. 

 
 We developed a new, temporary grant program that provides additional funding to the 

shelters for costs associated with COVID-19, including medical and sanitation supplies and 
additional staffing costs.  To date we have provided a total of $305,000 to shelters under this 
program. 
 

 We expedited the first quarter payments to the shelters under our ESHAP program to meet 
their critical need for immediate funds. 
 

 We worked with shelters, our Legal Services department, and our software vendor to allow 
for the capturing and sharing of COVID-19 related data amongst the shelters through our 
HMIS system.  This will allow for the shelters to more readily identify isolation needs 
 

 We worked with Portland shelters, DHHS, and USM to obtain an additional site for the 
Oxford Street Shelter to accommodate physical distancing requirements for persons 
experiencing homelessness.  We are continuing to work in other areas of the state to 
establish similar wellness centers. 
 

 We participated in several multi-agency team meetings with homeless providers to share 
information and develop strategies to address COVID-19 issues.  We are continuing to hold 

162



 

these meetings which include the Statewide Homeless Council and its established task force, 
as well as various sub-committees of the Maine Continuum of Care (MCOC). 
 

 We worked with HUD to obtain Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) program waivers to 
provide flexibility to our emergency homeless shelters and case managers as they serve the 
homeless population during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

 We are providing significant technical assistance to our partners and helping them as they 
struggle with the increased demands associated with COVID-19, particularly with staffing 
concerns. 
 

 We are also providing guidance to Maine people who are struggling with many challenges 
and need information on various resources. 

 
The Homeless Initiatives team is committed to helping Maine people and our partners who need 
critical support at this time.  We continue to work with homeless providers to develop solutions that 
will serve people experiencing homelessness. 

163



 

To:  MaineHousing Board of Commissioners 

From:  Craig Reynolds, Director of Homeownership 

Date:  April 6, 2020 

Subject: Monthly Report – Homeownership Department 

            ______ 

PRODUCTION UPDATE 

Purchases & Reservations 
Past/Current Comparison 

March 2019 March 2020 

# $ Volume # $ Volume 
% Change # 

(2020 vs. 2019) 
Purchases (YTD) 221 $19.9M 249 $36.5M 12.6% 

Reservations in Pipeline 189 $24.8M 290 $43.4M 53.4% 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Loan Production & Market Status 
 
The surge of loan activity that characterized the start of 2020 has shown surprising resilience even as 
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic became evident in February and continued to worsen 
through March. As shown by the Production Update above, YTD Loan Purchases were up by 
12.6% and by over $16M in Loan Volume compared to March of 2019. Perhaps more notable is the 
53.4% increase in the Loan Reservation Pipeline which equates to a remarkable increase of over 
$18M in Loan Volume from this time last year.  
 
Unfortunately due to COVID-19, the days, weeks and possibly months ahead are likely to show a 
significant decline in loan purchases and especially new reservations within the First Home Loan 
program as mandatory non-essential business closings, social distancing and the recent Stay at Home 
order issued by Governor Mills have effectively shut down Maine’s economy at least through April, 
as is also happening nationwide. Although mortgage interest rates remain very favorable and home 
price increases have slowed, the uncertainty of additional layoffs and job cutbacks and losses even if 
temporary, are having a chilling impact on a consumer’s confidence to make any major financial 
commitments such as buying a home until this threat subsides. The stimulus provided by the federal 

Monthly Reservations by Program Option 
Total Loans  

Reserved in March # $ 

2 points 1 $0.3M 
0 points 11 $1.9M 
0 points with Advantage 142 $22.1M 
Totals 154 $24.3M 

164



government’s CARES Act will hopefully ease the temporary loss of income for many would be 
homebuyers, allowing them to weather the financial hardships caused by the pandemic and emerge 
ready to resume their pursuit of homeownership once the threat shows clear signs of peaking and 
diminishing, and/or effective treatment therapies are developed and made available to the public. 
Until then, it is expected that housing industry activity will slow dramatically from pre-COVID-19 
levels.  
 
There are however, encouraging reports that some real estate sales are still being completed via 
virtual showings, and property closings are being conducted remotely or with minimal face to face 
contact among the parties and closing agents. The Maine Association of Realtors was successful 
with its petition to have real estate brokerage services designated as an Essential Business and it will 
continue to operate during the COVID-19 crisis in Maine subject to orders issued by the 
Governor’s office and guidance from Maine CDC. 
 
In the meantime, financial markets are experiencing wide swings in gains and losses which have 
analysts unable to predict movements on even a day to day basis. One certainty that hasn’t changed 
is that financial markets hate uncertainty, and their responses to the growing crisis have varied. In 
terms of the mortgage lending industry, market interest rates were approaching historic lows just a 
few weeks ago before the full scope of COVID-19 began to be understood. Since then market rates 
have increased slightly and have averaged generally in the 3.50% - 3.75% range, but remain very 
attractive for those homebuyers willing and able to brave the hardships that we are all encountering.  
 
Homeownership is closely monitoring market conditions and constantly consulting with Treasurer, 
Tom Cary concerning the volatile bond market and MaineHousing’s projected single family bond 
sales which will determine the ultimate positioning of the First Home Loan base interest rate. It is 
expected that the current 3.00% base rate in effect at the writing of this report will have increased by 
the time it is distributed to MaineHousing’s Board of Commissioners.  
 
Homeownership Department Response to COVID-19 
 
As the threat of the COVID-19 became clear, Homeownership quickly adapted to the Business 
Continuity plans put into effect agency wide, and adhered to guidelines coming from the office of 
Governor Mills and Maine CDC regarding social distancing and all measures designed to help 
prevent the spread of the virus. 100% of Homeownership’s staff have been set up to work remotely 
with the intention of keeping the First Home Loan (FHL) program fully operational regardless of 
the pandemic’s duration in keeping with MaineHousing’s designation as an Essential Business. A 
series of Lender Notices have been issued in recent weeks to assure all First Home Loan partners 
that the program remains open, to inform them of any procedural changes that may have occurred, 
and to also address how the relaxation of various guidelines by some mortgage insurers in response 
to the pandemic will apply to FHL program guidelines. I am extremely proud of the way every 
member of the Homeownership team has adapted to carry on during these very challenging times. 
 
New Lender Partner 
 
Homeownership is pleased to welcome Bar Harbor Bank and Trust as the newest member of our 
lender partner network. Mortgage Lending Team Leader, Brianne McNally completed 3 online 
training sessions for Bar Harbor’s staff which included processors, underwriters, Lender Online 
Administrators and their loan originating team. Brianne reported that Bar Harbor’s staff is very 
excited and eager to offer MaineHousing’s First Home Loan program to their client base. 
 

165



Homebuyer Education Class Status 
 
Consumer Education Coordinator, Matthew Drost confirms that MaineHousing will continue to 
support homebuyer education classes throughout Maine as we believe education is fundamental to 
the success of any first time homebuyer. The completion of a hoMEworks approved homebuyer 
education class remains a requirement of all MaineHousing borrowers electing to receive the $3,500 
Advantage down payment and closing cost assistance option offered by our First Home Loan 
program. With the requirement of social distancing created by the COVID-19 pandemic, offering 
in-person homebuyer education classes is currently not feasible, therefore many education provider 
organizations have moved their classes to a virtual model. Organizations such as Coastal Enterprises 
in Brunswick, York County Community Action Corporation, and MaineStream Finance will be 
utilizing platforms like Zoom and Go to Meeting to continue offering homebuyer education to 
Maine borrowers. MaineHousing will continue to sponsor these classes, and offer any support 
possible to our resilient network of educators and counselors around the state. The existing online 
eHome America homebuyer education class continues to be another option for Maine’s 
homebuyers. 
 

166



 
 
 Housing Choice Vouchers Department Memorandum 
 

 
To:  MaineHousing Board of Commissioners  
 
From:  Allison Gallagher - Director of HCV Programs  
 
Date:  April 21, 2020  
 
Subject:  Monthly Report – Housing Choice Voucher Program  
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Program Updates: 
PIH 2020-05-COVID-19 STATUTORY AND REGULATORY WAIVERS 
 
MaineHousing’s Housing Choice Voucher department will apply the following waivers in 
accordance with the PIH 2020-05: 
 
 Annual plan submission due date extended to January 16, 2020 

o HCV update plan and notify residents of any impact-do not anticipate changes from 
5 year plan submitted in October of 2019. 

 PHA Administrative plan revisions  
o HCV will make changes as needed to the plan without board approval and will 

ensure approval of any changes by the July 31, 2020 deadline. 
 Utility allowance renewal 

o HCV will update utility allowance schedule by December 31, 2020deadline 
 EIV monitoring 

o HCV will delay running EIV monitoring reports until the July 31, 2020 
 Delay processing and submission of annual re-certifications-all due by December 31, 2020 

o HCV will process annual re-exams as usual unless unable to meet work load and 
then will process by the due date of December 31, 2020. 

 Income and composition verification requirement-ends July 31, 2020 
o HCV will use self-certification as highest form of income verification for annuals and 

interim certifications and will accept by phone, email, fax and mail. 
 Payment standards (VPS) 

o HCV will increase VPS at interims if the change qualifies the family for an increase 
 HAP contract execution 

o HCV will accept HAP contracts dated up to but no later than 120 days from the 
effective lease date until July 31, 2020. 

 Absent from unit 180 requirement  
o HCV will consider extenuating circumstances due to COVID-19 when determining 

if a family can be absent from their unit more than 180 days in effect until December 
31, 2020 

 Zero HAP 6 180 requirement 

167



 

o HCV will extend participation for any family at zero HAP beyond 180 days but no 
later than December 31, 2020 

 FSS extend contract of participation 
o HCV will add  COVID-19 related reasons as a good cause reason to extend FSS 

contracts 
 HQS-Initial, PBV turnover, QA until July 31, 2020 

o HCV will rely on owner certification for initial inspections where the unit is not 
vacant or cannot be inspected in accordance with COVID-19 social distancing 
requirements.  The owner will complete a certification stating that the unit is absent 
of any life safety concerns as outlined by the PHA in the certification form.  HCV 
will inspect all units passed with this certification by October 31, 2020 

o For any units where a family moved in with 30 day fails, HCV will extend assessing 
the abatement period an additional 30 days but no later than July 31, 2020. 

o HCV will accept owner certification for all PBV turnover units.  The owner will 
complete a certification stating that the unit is absent of any life safety concerns as 
outlined by the PHA in the certification form.  HCV will inspect all units passed with 
this certification by October 31, 2020 

o HCV will delay QA inspections until October 31, 2020 
 
Inspections Update:  March 2020 
 
Abatements: 2 
STEP Abatements: 0 
24 hour fails: 0 
No Shows: 8 
Initials: 76 (41 passed the first time, 24 passed with no life safety fails, 11 failed, 7 cancelled and 4 of 
those were because the LL didn’t want to make the repairs) – 30 re-inspections 
STEP inspections: 11 initials, 3 annuals, 8 re-inspections 
Average number of days to schedule initials: 3 
Average number of days to schedule homeless initials: 3 
Annuals: 202 (58 passed the first time, 42 within the 30 day fail period and 11 were inspected three 
or more times before they passed). 91 failed 
Mileage: 12,246 
Landlord Repair Program: $64,562.15 
 
All of the Recovery House Residences were inspected.  An additional one was inspected by Rob on 
3/31 in Millinocket. 
    
Recovery House Residence Inspections:  
All 15 Recovery House Residences have been scheduled for their HQS inspections.   
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

168



 
 
 Information Technology Department Memorandum 
 

To: Board of Commissioners  

From: Sheila Nielsen, Director of IT 

Date: April 14, 2020 

Subject: Monthly Report 
 

 

 
The IT Department has been working on the following efforts during the last month. 
 

 COVID – 19 related activities: 

o Expanded telecommuting environment to support over 120 staff working remotely. 

o Deployed computer equipment available to support staff working remotely. 

o Deployed RingCentral Meeting functions to support conference calls and video 
conferencing. 

o Developed IT schedule to allow IT team to work remotely unless physical presence is 
necessary. 

 Completed the Exchange (email) server migration. 

 Edison Drive Building Initiatives: 

o Completed design and configuration of RingCentral phone call queues.  IT and CPD 
completed trial of chat tool functions and developed training material.   

o Network firewalls, switches and servers are installed and tested in the Edison Drive data 
center. 

o Data center storage has been installed.  Final configuration and testing is expected to be 
completed this week. 

o Consolidated Communications has installed the copper phone lines necessary to support 
elevator and emergency phone service. 

o Audio visual vendor, Headlight, has resumed work on site after suspending work due to 
their COVID-19 policy. 

o Continue to work with building security vendor, Norris, to complete access control for all 
badge reader controlled doors.  

 

 

169



Board Calendar 2020 
 
JANUARY 21 
 

 Legislative Preview (P. Merrill) 
 
NCSHA HFA Institute (Jan. 12-17) 
Washington, DC 

FEBRUARY 18 
 

 Introduce HEAP 
 

MARCH 17 
 

 HEAP discussion 
 Audit Committee update 

 
NCSHA Legislative Conference (March 9-11) 
Washington, DC 

 

APRIL 21 
 

 Commence rulemaking HEAP 
 2019 Year-end Financials  
 Commence rulemaking QAP 

 
 

MAY 26 
 

 HEAP public hearing 
 QAP public hearing 
 Commence rulemaking State LIHTC 

 
 
 

JUNE 16 
 

 Adopt HEAP rule 
 Introduce HCV Annual Plan 
 Adopt QAP 
 State LIHTC public hearing 
 

NCSHA  Credit Connect (June 2-5) 
St. Louis, Missouri 

JULY 21 
 

 BOARD MEETING IF NEEDED 
 

 

AUGUST 18 
 

 HCV Annual Plan Public Hearing 
 Adopt State LIHTC rule 

 
 

SEPTEMBER 15 
 

 Adopt HCV Annual Plan  
 
 
 

OCTOBER 20 
 

 NCSHA Annual Conf. (Oct. 24-27) 
 DOE Weatherization State Plan  

NOVEMBER 17 
 

 Review Preliminary 2021 Budget 
 DOE Weatherization State Plan Public 

Hearing 

DECEMBER 15 
 

 Approve 2021 Budget 
 Elect Officers 
 DOE Weatherization Adopt State Plan 
 MPP Series Resolution 

 

170


	Agenda April 21, 2020 Meeting
	Minutes of March 17, 2020 Meeting
	Memo to Board- PY2021 Proposed Changes Chapter 24
	HEAP Rule PY2021 draft redline version
	Year End Financial Report 2019
	Asset Management
	Communications and Planning
	Development
	Energy and Housing Services
	Finance Monthly Report
	Financial & Budget Report
	Finance Delinquency Report & Charts
	Finance Delinquency Report
	Finance Delinquency Chart

	Homeless Initiatives
	Homeownership
	To:  MaineHousing Board of Commissioners
	From:  Craig Reynolds, Director of Homeownership
	Subject: Monthly Report – Homeownership Department
	U______
	PRODUCTION UPDATE

	Housing Choice Voucher
	Information Technologies
	2020 Calendar



